

Asia-Pacific **Economic Cooperation**

APEC Senior Officials' Report on

Economic and Technical Cooperation 2010

Advancing Free Trade for Asia-Pacific Prosperity

Printed by

APEC Secretariat, 35 Heng Mui Keng Terrace, Singapore 119616 Tel: (65) 6891 9600 Fax: (65) 6891 9690 Email: info@apec.org Website: www.apec.org

© 2010 APEC Secretariat

ISSN 0219-0932 APEC#210-ES-01.4

Contents

A Letter from the SCE Chair

Ex	cecutive Summary
1.	Introduction
2.	2010 Highlights and priorities
	2.1. Strengthening ECOTECH activities in APEC
	a. Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities
	b. Strengthening the SCE Processes
	c. Fora's Accountability and Communications
	d. Capacity building for improving project proposal design
	e. Coordination among APEC fora
	2.2. Enhancing APEC's collaboration with multilateral organisations
	2.3. Enhancing public-private partnership14
	2.4. Independent assessment of SCE fora
	2.5 Other SCE decisions
	a. Renewal of the mandate of Counter – Terrorism Task Force (CTTF)
	b. Elevation of Task Force for Emergency Preparedness (TFEP) to working group
	status
	c. Terms of Reference of Agricultural Technical Cooperation Working Group (ATCWG)
	2.6 APEC Support Fund
3	APEC projects in action
	Implementation of the APEC medium-term ECOTECH priorities
	3.1. Regional Economic Integration
	3.2. Addressing social dimension of globalisation (Inclusive Growth)
	3.3. Safeguarding the quality of life through sustainable growth
	3.4. Structural Reform
	3.5. Human security
4	Key achievements of SCE fora
	4.1 Selected key achievements of SCE fora
5	Recommendations

Annexes

Annex 1: SOM Steering Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation Terms of Reference
Annex 2: SOM Steering Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation 2010 Work Program
Annex 3: Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities
Annex 4: Revised Guidelines for Lead Shepherd/Chair and Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces
Annex 5: Independent Assessment of the ECOTECH Implementation of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces:
Counter Terrorism Task Force – SCE Decisions
Annex 6: Independent Assessment of the ECOTECH Implementation of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces:
Human Resource Development Working Group – SCE Decisions
Annex 7: Independent Assessment of the ECOTECH Implementation of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces:
Health Working Group –SCE Decisions
Annex 8: Independent Assessment of the ECOTECH Implementation of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces:
Transportation Working Group – SCE Decisions
Annex 9: Independent Assessment of the ECOTECH Implementation of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces:
Tourism Working Group – SCE Decisions
Annex 10: Terms of Reference of Emergency Preparedness Technical Cooperation Working Group
Annex 11: Terms of Reference of Agricultural Technical Cooperation Working Group 108
Annex 12: Abbreviations and Acronyms 111

Document is designed for double-sided printing. Blank pages have been deliberately included to allow correct pagination.

A Letter from the SCE Chair

The year 2010 has been an important one for economic and technical cooperation in APEC with critical decisions made on both policy and operational aspects, The diligent efforts of SCE members over the past few years to reform ECOTECH policies is having a positive impact on both the efficiency and the effectiveness of APEC programs. A new Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities was put in place to ensure that ECOTECH activities are well-prioritised and well-designed to support the achievement of APEC's top objectives. The framework has also laid the ground for SCE to effectively carry out the streamlining of its sub-fora structure to better address new priorities and the needs of member economies.

To further strengthen SCE processes, we made the issue of fora accountability and communications central to our strategic work during the year. We have stressed the responsibilities or fora leadership and explored ways to instil greater responsiveness to policy directions set by Leaders, Minister and Senior Officials. Measures to improve communications within APEC were implemented and had an immediate positive impact on the process. We particularly focused on how to better communicate the outcomes of the APEC ECOTECH activities, so that the benefits of APEC projects are shared with the public at large in addition to specialists in each respective field.

As you will see in this report, SCE and its sub-fora completed a significant amount of work in 2010. We could not have done so without strong commitment from member economies. I would like to take this opportunity to thank SCE members, especially the SCE Vice Chair, Mr Kenji Hiramatsu, for their support during my chairmanship. I would also like to thank the various working groups and task forces for their hard work and the contributions they made to fulfilling APEC's ECOTECH objectives.

On this occasion, I would like to welcome Russia as the new Chair of SCE in 2011 and wish them well in guiding the SCE over the coming year.

Finally, I wish everyone well in our efforts towards achieving APEC's goals, and request ever stronger commitment as we continue to work together in 2011.

Yours faithfully,

Kurt Tong Chair, SOM Steering Committee on ECOTECH

Document is designed for double-sided printing. Blank pages have been deliberately included to allow correct pagination.

Executive Summary

In 2010, the SOM Steering Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation (SCE) met on three occasions in the margin of SOM meetings to discuss, *inter alia*, the implementation of the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities; ways to improve the accountability in APEC and to better communicate the outcomes of APEC fora's work to the broader community beyond APEC structure; ways to improve the communication between SCE and its sub-fora and among fora themselves; ways to enhance APEC's collaboration with other multilateral organisations (MOs) and the private sector; and the implementation of ongoing independent assessments. SCE also held the fifth SCE-Committee of the Whole (COW) meeting with Chairs and Lead Shepherds of APEC committees and fora to discuss various policy issues as well as a Dialogue with MOs on Aid-for-Trade.

The Committee had strong performance in 2010, meeting all commitments outlined in its annual work-plan. Key achievements include the new Framework to Guide APEC ECOTECH Activities; successful implementation of the new working arrangements; strengthening accountability of APEC fora to policy indicators or directions set by Leaders and Ministers; strengthening the SCE-COW; revised guidelines for Chairs/Lead shepherds; enhanced APEC's cooperation with APEC Business Advisory Council (ABAC), and successful implementation of independent assessments of five APEC working groups and task forces.

SCE also considered and approved the annual work-plans of 16 working groups and task forces, upgraded the Task Force for Emergency Preparedness (TFEP) to a working group, and renewed the mandate of the Counter-Terrorism Task Force (CTTF) for another two years until the end of 2012. SCE also considered the medium-term workplans of SCE working groups and taskforces, and approved the workplans that met the requirements.

SCE assessed and ranked all project proposals of SCE working groups/taskforces applying for APEC funding ahead of presentation to the Budget Management Committee (BMC). In the first session of project approval in 2010, SCE also assessed and ranked projects of other Committees applying for APEC funding from the APEC Support Fund (ASF).

During the period from October 2009 to October 2010, APEC working groups and taskforces have registered 98 ECOTECH-related projects. These include 70 projects approved by the BMC for APEC funding and 28 self-funded projects initiated and implemented by individual economies and/or groups of economies. The SCE itself had three projects approved during this period.

Section 3 of this report highlights some of the projects undertaken by various SCE for ato support economic and technical cooperation.

Section 4 of this report outlines key achievements of the SCE fora.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are proposed to the 22nd APEC Ministerial Meeting (AMM):

- 1. Endorse the 2010 SOM Report on Economic and Technical Cooperation;
- 2. Welcome the progress of work on strengthening APEC ECOTECH activities, in particular the completion and implementation of the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities and work on enhancing fora accountability and communications;
- 3. Welcome the achievements of the Working Groups and SOM Task Forces and welcome the ongoing improvements that have been achieved through the Program of Independent Assessment of all SCE fora; and
- 4. Welcome 2010 contributions to the APEC Support Fund from Australia, Japan, Russia and Chinese Taipei.

1. Introduction

In 1998, the SOM Sub-Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation was established with the mandate to "assist SOM in improving the management and coordination of ECOTECH activities among APEC fora". The Sub-Committee was later elevated to the SOM Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation (ESC) in 2002. In 2006, as part of the APEC reform process, the ESC was transformed into the SOM Steering Committee on ECOTECH (SCE) with an enhanced mandate to strengthen the prioritisation and effective implementation of ECOTECH activities by various APEC fora. In 2009, SOM agreed to further strengthen SCE's policy guidance role as recommended by SCE's internal review. The Terms of Reference (ToR) of the SCE have been revised to reflect the new working arrangement of the Committee (Annex 1).

In 2010, SCE was chaired by Mr. Kurt Tong, the US Senior Official for APEC and EAP Economic Coordinator, US Department of State. The Vice Chair of the Committee was Mr. Kenji Hiramatsu, APEC Senior Official for Japan, Deputy Director-General, Economic Affairs Bureau, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan.

The Committee met on three occasions during the year to discuss:

- a) The implementation of the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities;
- b) Ways to improve the accountability in APEC and to better communicate the outcomes of APEC fora's work to the broader community beyond APEC structure;
- c) Ways to improve the communication between SCE and its sub-fora and among fora themselves;
- d) Ways to enhance APEC's collaboration with other multilateral Organisations and the private sector; and
- e) The implementation of ongoing independent assessments.

A Friends of the Chair's (FOTC) group was set up to assist the Chair and the Vice Chair with the work on fora's accountability and communications. The FOTC meetings were convened in the margins of the second and third SCE meetings.

The first SCE meeting and the fifth SCE-COW meeting were held on 23 February 2010 in Hiroshima, Japan. The highlight of the meetings was the introduction of the topics of sub-fora accountability and communications, and the very constructive and frank discussion between Senior Officials and representatives from APEC fora on how best to implement the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities. SCE reviewed progress of the ongoing independent assessments, endorsed its revised Terms of Reference and the 2010 work-plan (Annex 2). SCE also considered 2010 work-plans submitted by working groups and task forces and completed the endorsement process intersessionally. Written comments were provided to SCE fora to help ensure their work-plans are responsive to the APEC 2010 priorities and instructions from Leaders and Ministers.

The second SCE meeting took place on 2 June 2010 in Sapporo, Japan. The Committee continued its discussion on fora accountability and communications, in particular on the guidelines for Chairs/Lead shepherds as well as how best to achieve compliance with the guidelines. The meeting agreed in principle on the revised *Guidelines for Lead Shepherd/Chair and Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces*. The meeting also considered measures to help member economies improve project quality in APEC and reviewed the implementation of independent assessments.

The second part of the SCE2 meeting was a Dialogue on Aid-for-Trade with representatives from the Asia Development Bank (ADB), Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), World Bank (WB), and World Trade Organisation (WTO). The Dialogue provided an affirmation of the importance of Aid-for-Trade and of the work that is being done as part of APEC's ECOTECH agenda. It also demonstrated the opportunities which exist not only for APEC as an organisation but also for member economies to work with other multilateral organisations.

SCE members met for the third time on 24 September 2010 in Sendai, Japan. SCE agreed to improve the SCE-COW by: (i) making SCE-COW more interactive and more of debate/dialogue about actual substance; (ii) organizing relevant and interesting topic-specific dialogue on a cross-cutting issue between Senior Officials and sub-fora chairs/lead shepherds in conjunction with SCE-COW meeting. SCE will consider holding a dialogue on growth strategy or related topics at SOM1 in 2011; (iii) and providing travel funding to SCE-COW meeting to those developing economy sub-fora chairs/lead shepherds who request travel assistance from the SCE Chair. SCE endorsed the extension of the mandate of the Counter-Terrorism Task Force (CTTF) until end of 2012 and the revised Terms of Reference of the Agricultural Technical Cooperation Working Group (ATCWG). The Committee also considered the draft plan for streamlining SCE fora; had initial discussion on improving the funding criteria; and considered medium-term workplans of working groups and taskforces. This year, SCE agreed to upgrade the Task Force for Emergency Preparedness (TFEP) to an Emergency Preparedness Working Group (EPWG). For the first time, all working groups and taskforces were requested to develop medium-term work-plans. This task enabled fora to develop their work programs more strategically and with a longer-term perspective.

The Committee had strong performance in 2010, meeting all commitments outlined in its annual work-plan. Key achievements include the new Framework to Guide APEC ECOTECH Activities; successful implementation of the new working arrangements; strengthening accountability of APEC fora to policy indicators or directions set by Leaders and Ministers; revised Guidelines for chairs/lead shepherds; recommendations for enhancing APEC-ABAC cooperation, and successful implementation of the independent assessments of five APEC working groups and task forces.

With the endorsement of the new Framework to Guide APEC ECOTECH Activities, from 2010, SCE will report on the implementation of the five medium-term ECOTECH priorities and their corresponding key initiatives. During the period from October 2009 to October 2010, APEC committed to fund a total of 70 ECOTECH projects proposed by the SCE and its fora. In addition, 28 projects initiated and self-funded by individual member economies or group of economies were undertaken to advance work in priority areas and support economic and technical cooperation in APEC. A simple analysis of the implementation of the ECOTECH projects is presented in Section 3 of this report.

There were 11 additional ECOTECH projects from other Committees of APEC: five projects from the Committee on Trade and Investment (CTI), five projects from the Economic Committee (EC) and

one project from the Finance Ministers Process (FMP), all of which received funding from the APEC Support Fund. The outcomes of these CTI, EC and FMP projects will be reported in their respective reports to Leaders and Ministers.

Section 4 outlines the key achievements of SCE fora. The final section provides conclusions and recommendations to the 22^{nd} APEC Ministerial Meeting.

2. 2010 Highlights and Priorities

2.1 Strengthening ECOTECH activities in APEC

Two main threads of work supported this key agenda of SCE in 2010. One was finalising and implementing the new Framework to Guide APEC ECOTECH Activities. The other was addressing the issues of accountability and communications to increase the responsiveness of APEC fora to the policy indicators and directions set by Leaders and Ministers and to ensure that the benefits brought about by APEC work are well communicated to the wider public beyond APEC.

a. Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities

In January 2010, after several rounds of discussion, SCE members finalised the new Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities in APEC (Annex 3). The document was endorsed by SOM1 in February 2010.

The framework was developed with the understanding that APEC should pursue a more strategic and holistic approach to all ECOTECH activities so that APEC could marshal its resources towards achieving the outcomes most important to its members, with a view to maximising its contribution to the region. Without a more strategic and goal-orientated approach, there is a grave risk that APEC could not focus its resources to contribute substantively to the achievement of its core objectives. The Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities represents a rejection of the notion that APEC should or can fund activities across the full spectrum of its extensive policy agenda.

In essence, this strategic policy framework adopts a holistic approach by (a) revising the APEC ECOTECH priorities and (b) introducing a uniform set of criteria for all projects funding, where funding is based on the nexus between the proposal and APEC core's objectives. This approach helped close the gap that had existed between the long and medium-term ECOTECH priorities (agreed in 1996 and 2003 respectively) and the annual funding criteria.

APEC ECOTECH Priorities

The following five work streams have been identified as the APEC medium – term ECOTECH priorities:

- 1. Regional Economic Integration;
- 2. Addressing Social Dimension of Globalisation (Inclusive Growth);
- 3. Safeguarding the Quality of Life through Sustainable Growth;
- 4. Structural Reform; and
- 5. Human Security.

The SCE requested all working groups/taskforces to develop medium-term work-plans to ensure that their work programs support the implementation of these priorities. This task also enabled fora to develop their work programs more strategically and with a longer-term perspective.

Funding criteria for all projects

The introduction of holistic funding priorities is designed to ensure that all proposals are prioritized in line with APEC Leaders' and Ministers' instructions, and that there is a common basis for making funding decisions given that the demand for project funding significantly exceeds the supply.

In 2009, SCE took the first step to strengthen the SCE Policy Criteria by replacing the old six-tier ranking framework with the new four-tier rankings based on the nexus between the project proposal and the achievement of APEC's core objectives. Given the refocused priorities there was a need to have an equally refocused set of criteria to guide evaluation of project proposals. In 2010, the annual policy criteria were further modified to form a uniform set of funding criteria for all 2010 APEC projects regardless of the originating forum. The CTI and EC were also involved in the development of these funding criteria.

The new funding criteria will be used by SOM as a starting point for translating Leaders and Ministers' directives into funding priorities for the following year soon after the Leaders' Meeting – either on the margins of the Informal Senior Officials' Meeting (ISOM) or intersessionally. These criteria are aligned with the APEC medium-term ECOTECH priorities, but they can be modified every year to meet Leaders' and Ministers' instructions and APEC-wide annual objectives. The current criteria will be reviewed at the end of this year.

b. Strengthening the SCE Processes

Apart from identifying new ECOTECH priorities and funding criteria, the framework also proposes a list of recommendations to strengthen the SCE processes so that it can better deliver on its mandated role of "providing policy guidance on ways to contribute to APEC's ECOTECH goals." They include:

- 1. Better timing of SCE meeting to maximize SOM participation;
- 2. Strengthening the role of the Executive Director and Program Directors of the APEC Secretariat to guide fora;
- 3. Assessing and directing realignment of SCE for a annual work-plans and developing mediumterm plans;
- 4. Pursuing continuous improvement;
- 5. Streamlining SCE fora;
- 6. Improving continuity and leadership of the SCE;
- 7. Ensuring Intra Committee alignment; and
- 8. Ensuring Cost savings.

Some important positive changes have been observed in the SCE processes after a year of implementing these recommendations. With the SCE meeting held back-to-back with the SOM meeting, the number of Senior Officials attending each SCE meeting has increased significantly compared with previous years. The communication between SCE/SOM and APEC working groups/taskforces has been strengthened with a more active role played by the APEC Secretariat in conveying the results of discussion at SCE, SOM, AMM and APEC Economic Leaders' Meeting (AELM). Fora have better understanding of the APEC 2010 priorities and a number of them reported

to have had discussions within their respective groups on the need for better alignment with the overarching APEC objectives and current priorities. With regular reports from the APEC Secretariat on the implementation progress of SCE Fora work-plans, Senior Officials are now well informed about the work done at the technical fora level. Coordination among fora has also been improved as fora are more aware of activities undertaken by other groups and the need for coordination and consultation on cross-cutting issues.

c. Fora's Accountability and Communications

In addition to measures proposed in the Framework to guide ECOTECH activities, the SCE also explored other ways to encourage greater sense of responsibility of fora and to enhance communication within APEC and to the general public. Specifically, SCE looked into the following issues:

- How to improve fora's responsiveness to policy indicators or directions set by Leaders and Ministers, and how to improve the way fora provide feedback to and inform others about their work?
- How to better communicate the outcomes of the SCE fora's work, beyond the SOM and APEC structure, so that the benefits of projects are shared beyond immediate membership of the group to the public at large?
- Should the guidelines for Lead Shepherds be updated to further elucidate the responsibilities of Lead Shepherd's as key advocate for their sub-fora?
- How can SCE be more responsible to its sub-fora? How can SCE inform sub-fora more clearly and convincingly of the policy directions considered/made at SOM and Ministers levels?

SCE endorsed the revised *Guidelines for Lead Shepherd/Chair and Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces* (Annex 4). The revisions were made not just to clarify the existing guidelines but also to more clearly and forcefully encourage accountability and communication at the sub-fora level. SCE also discussed how to use the SCE-COW more effectively to improve communication between SOM and the sub-fora. SCE agreed to improve the SCE-COW by: (i) making SCE-COW more interactive and more of debate/dialogue about actual substance; (ii) organizing relevant and interesting topic – specific dialogue on a cross-cutting issue between Senior Officials and sub-fora chairs/lead shepherds in conjunction with SCE-COW meeting. SCE will consider holding a dialogue on growth strategy or related topics at SOM1 in 2011; (iii) and providing travel funding to SCE-COW meeting to those developing economy sub-fora chairs/lead shepherds who request travel assistance from the SCE Chair. SCE will first exhaust the possibility of receiving contributions from volunteering member economies to cover these travel expenses. The Operational Account will only be used as a last resort. The Committee developed a plan on the implementation of recommendation 5 of the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities on streamlining SCE fora.

SCE efforts to ensure that fora are accountable to the APEC funding that they receive for projects have been reinforced by a recent decision of the Budget and Management Committee to make submission of monitoring and completion reports mandatory. A vigorous post-project evaluation system is essential for SCE to have an accurate assessment of the effectiveness and impact of ECOTECH activities.

d. Capacity building for improving project proposal design

One of the priorities of SCE in 2010 was to address the difficulty faced by developing member economies in obtaining APEC funding for their project proposals. SCE agreed that there was a strong need for capacity building to assist developing economy project proponents to design project proposals that meet the quality thresholds required for funding. SCE requested the APEC Secretariat to implement measures to support and assist members to improve project quality.

In response to member economies' request for training, several Project Quality Training sessions were organised by the APEC Technical Assistance and Training Facilities (TATF) for all delegates of APEC fora that met on the margins of SOM meetings. The APEC Secretariat also held information sessions to provide detailed explanation to project proponents on the quality criteria as well as the reformed system of project approval and management. In April 2010, TAFT and the APEC Secretariat jointly organised a train-the-trainer program on project quality targeting APEC member economy representatives, who are responsible for initiating training efforts in their home economies. This "Train-the-Trainers" program was aimed at building capacity within member economies to train staff members that want to propose an APEC project. As of September 2010, this program led to training on project quality taking place in 12 member economies.

e. Coordination among APEC fora

To further enhance the coordination among APEC fora, the new Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities requests that the APEC Secretariat assists the SCE Chair in this matter and encourages fora with a similar focus to hold meetings back-to-back. Fora are also encouraged to hold joint sessions/dialogues to work on issues of common interest. Reports from working groups/taskforces show that they understand the complementary nature of work done by other groups and the need to avoid duplication of efforts across various work streams. It also shows that <u>cross-cutting issues</u> correspond to the five priority work-streams identified in the Framework, and provide bridges and links between different fora/Committees (see figure below).



Figure 1. Fora Coordination under ECOTECH Medium-Term Priorities

2.2 Enhancing APEC's Collaboration with Multilateral Organisations

In June 2010, SCE organised a dialogue on Aid-for-Trade with representatives from several multilateral organisations (MOs) including the Asian Development Bank (ADB), Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), World Bank (WB) and the World Trade Organisation (WTO). The Dialogue affirmed the importance of Aid-for-Trade and of the work that is being done as part of APEC's ECOTECH agenda. It also demonstrated the opportunities which exist not only for APEC as an organisation but also for member economies to work with the MOs. There were also useful suggestions made at the Dialogue to further the cooperation between APEC and other MOs in advancing the Aid-for-Trade agenda. The WTO, for example, offered to promote APEC's Aid-for-Trade activities to a global audience, inviting APEC to showcase a small number of selected projects in the WTO's Third Global Review of Aid-for-Trade. Other examples include:

- The OECD encouraged APEC to continue to expand its Aid-for-Trade agenda due to its important implications for trade-led growth.
- There is scope for cooperation on trade facilitation between APEC and the WB, in particular on supply chain connectivity and regulatory reform.

• Possibility of joint APEC-ADB training activities on region-wide Free Trade Agreements (FTAs), trade facilitation and trade logistics, and on developing good practices in trade-related technical assistance could be explored for future cooperation.

As a follow-up, APEC will participate in the WTO Third Global Review that focuses on the impact of Aid-for-Trade on economic growth, trade, development and poverty reduction. APEC will provide case studies that would show: (i) how trade-related technical assistance and capacity building of APEC are resulting in impact on the ground; and (ii) how Aid-for-Trade is supporting regional economic integration. Possible cooperation with the ADB on regional trade will be further explored. In July 2009, SCE endorsed a list of recommendations for better cooperation with other MOs. Following up on this decision, the APEC fora's contact points with MOs was updated and a centralized point of contact was appointed to facilitate the engagement. Cooperation between the APEC Secretariat and Secretariat of Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) and WTO has been strengthened. The APEC Secretariat paid a visit to the WTO Secretariat as instructed by the Ministers Responsible for Trade to identify possible areas of cooperation, including trade review report, Aid-for-Trade and data and research exchanges. An agreement was reached between the WTO and the APEC Secretariat visit to the ASEAN Secretariat in 2010, with coordination being undertaken by TATF.

It is important to note that, at the technical level, dynamic cooperation has been established between APEC fora and other MOs in their areas of expertise (see table 1 for the summary of engagement). Apart from sending representatives to each other's meetings, APEC fora and their counterpart MOs also jointly organised workshops/seminars or studies including:

- Joint Transportation Working Group (TPTWG) International Organization for Standardization (ISO) Workshop on Public Transport Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Information Exchange Standards was held on 19 April 2010 in New Orleans, USA to promote integrated ITS technologies and standards that lead to lower cost systems and more efficient operations.
- Joint TPTWG-WB project on "Transport, Energy and Environmental Benefits of Intermodal Freight Strategies".
- Development and endorsement of *Regulatory Guidelines for APEC member Economies to Address the Anti-Competitive Aspects of Non-ratemaking Agreements among Liner Shipping Companies* (in cooperation with Global Shippers Forum (GSF), The International Chamber of Shipping (ICS), World Shipping Council (WSC), the Competition Directorate of the European Commission (DG Comp)).
- Energy Working Group (EWG) and International Energy Agency (IEA) are developing joint programs to improve response to oil and gas emergencies in the APEC region.
- APEC Telecommunications and Information Working Group (TEL) OECD *Joint Workshop on Promoting a Safer Internet Environment for Children* to analyse the current situation regarding information harmful to children and to identify common policy.
- *Stop Spam Alliance* joint initiative to combat spam amongst APEC, OECD, and International Telecommunication Union (ITU);

APEC FORA	OTHER MULTILATERAL ORGANISATIONS
ACT	WB; OECD/ADB Anti-Corruption Initiative for Asia Pacific; Transparency International; and European Commission Anti-Fraud office
CTTF	UN Counter-Terrorism Committee (CTC)/ the Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate (CTED)
EWG	International Energy Agency (IEA); Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency Partnership (REEEP); the Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean development and Climate's Buildings and Appliances Task Force (BATF);
FWG	Asia Pacific Fishery Commission (APFC)
HRDWG	WB, the Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Organisation (SEAMEO), Hewlett Foundation
HWG	World Health Organisation (WHO); WHO Western Pacific Region (WPRO); ASEAN
ISTWG	ASEAN Committee of Science and Technology (COST); OECD
MRCWG	United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP); Global Fund Environment (GEF); WB
MTF	WB; ASEAN; United Nations Commission for Sustainable Development (UNCSD); International Nickel Study Group, International Copper Study Group, International Lead and Zinc Study Group, OECD Steel Committee, European Commission (EC);
TEL	Asia Pacific Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation (APLAC); OECD Working Party on Information Security and Privacy (WPISP); and United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC); Asia-Pacific Telecommunity (APT); ITU.
TPTWG	ISO, International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO), The Air Transport Association (IATA), WB, United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE), the International Maritime Organisation (IMO), the International Committee on Global Navigation Satellite Systems, and the European Union (EU).
TWG	The World Tourism Organisation (UNWTO); United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO); the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), International Council on Monuments and Sites (ICOMOS).

Table 1. Collaboration between APEC Fora and Other Multilateral Organisations

2.3 Enhancing public-private partnership

In 2009, SCE initiated a survey among working groups and taskforces on the cooperation between APEC and the APEC Business Advisory Council (ABAC). ABAC also took part in the survey. In 2010, the survey was expanded to cover all APEC fora including the CTI and its sub-fora, the EC and its sub-forum, and the Senior Finance Officials Meeting (SFOM). The results of the survey show that there is room for improvement and continual guidance from Senior Officials is needed to increase the effectiveness of APEC-ABAC engagement. In order to enhance fora responsiveness to the views of the business sector, SCE requested all working groups/taskforces to take into consideration the recommendations put forward by ABAC to Leaders when they developed their annual work-plans. Fora were also asked to identify activities with implications for the private-sector. These efforts helped APEC fora better identify the synergies that exist between them and ABAC and the private sector.

Based on the survey results, the SCE recognized that the emphasis on strengthening APEC's engagement with ABAC over the past two years has accomplished the objective of enhancing publicprivate partnerships in APEC. In 2010, APEC working groups and taskforces made great strides to promote public-private partnership through activities such as inviting private sector representatives to their meetings/workshops, organising policy dialogues on areas of mutual interest, as well as developing working relationships with the business sector. The following are a few examples of activities undertaken by fora to engage the private sector:

- ACT organised an ACT ABAC Roundtable on Market Integrity and Clean Markets on 17 September 2010 in Sendai, Japan.
- **EPWG** held a Workshop on Public-Private Partnerships for Disaster Resilience on 24-27 August 2010, in Bangkok, Thailand; Strengthening public-private partnerships was a focus of the 4th APEC Emergency Management CEOs' Forum;
- **HRDWG:** Under the APEC Strategic Plan for English and Other Languages, the group has been working with business consortia and chambers of commerce to deliver resources relating to language learning for business purposes.
- **MTF:** engaged industry representatives in conducting its study on the situation in mining sector (new developments, important events, trends and other initiatives in mining sector).
- **SMEWG** representative attended ABAC meeting for the first time to share information on the SMEWG strategic plan, initiatives implemented by individual member economies in response to ABAC recommendations, and measures to strengthen relationship between the two fora.
- **TEL** in collaboration with Asia-Pacific Network Information Center (APNIC) and Internet Society (ISOC) conducted three workshops on IPv6.
- **TPTWG:** Public-private Symposium on Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) applications in transportation modes was held on 22 June 2010 in the margins of TPTWG's GNSS Implementation Team annual meeting in Seattle (USA) on 21-24 June 2010; APEC Port Services Network (ASPN) Council and Regular (Industry) Members meeting on 16-17 September 2010, in Shanghai, China: APSN is currently working on establishment of APSN Advisory Body of key industry representatives.
- **TWG:** The group has been working with the Pacific Asia Travel Association (PATA), and World Travel and Tourism Council (WTTC) to share information on various issues affecting the tourism industry and jointly undertake projects in the region; TWG is actively engaged with WTTC to seek its experience and expertise on developing a Tourism Satellite Account (TSA) and addressing climate change issues.

The diagram below shows how inputs from private sector are taken into the APEC system – through APEC-ABAC collaboration and engagement with other business/industry organisations.



Figure 2. APEC's ENGAGEMENT WITH PRIVATE SECTOR

2.4 Independent Assessments of SCE fora

In 2010, SCE completed its review of the independent assessment of five working groups and task forces, namely the Counter-Terrorism Task Force (CTTF), the Human Resource Development Working Group (HRDWG), the Health Working Group (HWG), the Transportation Working Group (TPTWG), and the Tourism Working Group (TWG). SCE's decisions related to the independent assessment of these groups are set out respectively in Annexes 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9. All groups were requested to implement SCE's decisions and report progress regularly to SCE.

The Committee received reports on the implementation of the independent assessment recommendations from the Anti-Corruption and Transparency Expert Group (ACT), the Agricultural Technical Cooperation Working Group (ATCWG), the Energy Working Group (EWG), the Industrial Science and Technology Working Group (ISTWG), the APEC Gender Focal Point Network (GFPN), the High-Level Policy Dialogue on Agricultural Biotechnology (HLPDAB), the Marine Resources Conservation Working Group (MRCWG), and the Telecommunication and Information Working Group (TEL).

This year, SCE also commenced the review of five other fora including the Emergency Preparedness Working Group (EPWG), the Fisheries Working Group (FWG), the Marine Resources Conservation Working Group (MRCWG), the Small and Medium Enterprises Working Group (SMEWG), and the Mining Task Force (MTF).

SCE reaffirmed that the independent assessment process is an important management tool to give guidance to its sub-fora and agreed that SCE would discuss as an official agenda item the discontinuance, and merger or re-focusing of sub-fora if such a recommendation is made in the final independent assessment report to SCE.

2.5 Other SCE Decision

a. Elevation of Task Force for Emergency Preparedness (TFEP) to working group status

Cognizant of the fact that the frequency and intensity of disasters will continue to increase in the decades ahead and the important role played by TFEP in advancing APEC agenda of protecting business, trade and economic growth from disruptions caused by disasters, pandemics and terrorist attacks, SCE approved the request to upgrade the task force to a working group. SCE endorsed the ToR of EPWG (Annex 10) at SCE2 meeting in June 2010. The decision enabled TFEP to adopt a longer-term focus, consistent with the *APEC Strategy for Disaster Risk Reduction and Emergency Preparedness and Response in the Asia Pacific Region 2009-2015*, entrench an annual Disaster Management Senior Officials' Forum until at least 2013, and propose multi-year capacity-building initiatives.

SCE also stressed that the decision should not be seen as lack of resolve or any lessening of the SCE and SOM's desire to streamline, rationalize, and improve the efficiency of working groups within APEC. The decision was a part of SCE's efforts to take a critical view toward the structure of sub-fora, their mandates and outcomes. SCE will regularly review the work of sub-fora to decide whether they need to be merged with other fora or disbanded. SCE requested that the Emergency Preparedness Working Group (EPWG) continue to focus on the nexus between emergency preparedness and trade in order to avoid duplicating the work of other organisations and APEC fora.

b. Renewal of CTTF mandate – having recognised the effort that CTTF has been making to strengthen itself, SCE agreed to renew the mandate of the CTTF for another two years until the end of 2012. Given the overlapping mandate between CTTF and other groups such as TPTWG, TEL, and EWG, SCE also stressed the importance of CTTF continuing to deepen its coordination with other fora to avoid duplication of effort.

c. Terms of Reference (ToR) of ATCWG – SCE endorsed the revised ToR for ATCWG (Annex 11) with amendments made to create better alignment with broader APEC priorities and to respond to SCE decision regarding the ATCWG Independent Assessment.

2.6 APEC Support Fund

In 2004, Ministers endorsed the Australian proposal to set up the APEC Support Fund (ASF) to serve as a flexible funding mechanism to complement the existing Operational Account (OA) and Trade and Investment Liberalisation Fund (TILF) for meeting capacity building needs for APEC developing economies in APEC's agreed high priority sectors for economic and technical cooperation. Since its inception, the fund has received contributions from many economies including Australia; China; Hong Kong, China; Japan; Korea; Russia; Chinese Taipei; and the United States. This has significantly boosted resources available to build capacity in the region for economic and technical cooperation activities.

In February 2010, Chinese Taipei signed with the APEC Secretariat an Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for a contribution of US\$1 million, of which US\$500,000 was directed to the ASF Sub-Fund A (Human Security) and US\$500,000 to ASF Sub-Fund D (Energy Efficiency/ Environment).

In June 2010, Japan committed additional JPY360,000,000 (equivalent to approximately US\$1,259,182) funding to expand Sub-Fund D to cover not only energy efficiency related activities but also low-carbon measures. The MOU between Japan and the APEC Secretariat was signed on 19 June 2010 at the margins of Energy Ministerial Meeting in Fukui, Japan.

This year, Australia contributed a total of US\$1,991,100 to the General Fund and Russia's contribution (US\$170,000 to Sub-Fund A – Human Security and US\$80,000 to Sub-Fund C – Science & Technology) was received in April 2010.

From October 2009 to September 2010, the ASF funded 39 ECOTECH capacity-building projects in different areas ranging from food security, emergency preparedness, and women entrepreneurship, to regulatory reform.

3. APEC Projects in Action

With the endorsement of the new Framework to guide ECOTECH activities in APEC, from 2010, SCE will report annually against the five medium-term priorities identified in the Framework. These priorities for APEC's economic and technical cooperation are:

- Regional Economic Integration;
- Addressing Social Dimension of Globalisation (Inclusive Growth);
- Safeguarding the Quality of Life through Sustainable Growth;
- Structural Reform; and
- Human Security.

During the period from October 2009 to October 2010, APEC committed to fund a total of 70 ECOTECH projects proposed by the SCE and its fora. Out of the 70 projects, six projects received funding from the TILF Special Account, 23 projects were funded by the OA and 41 projects by the ASF. In addition, 28 projects initiated and self-funded by individual member economies or group of economies were undertaken to advance work in priority areas and support economic and technical cooperation in APEC. There were also 11 additional ECOTECH projects from other Committees of APEC: five projects from CTI, five projects from EC and one project from the Finance Ministers Process (FMP), all of which received funding from the APEC Support Fund. The outcomes of these CTI, EC and FMP projects will be reported in their respective reports to Leaders and Ministers.

The following section highlights projects/activities undertaken by various SCE for to support economic and technical cooperation. Projects¹ approved during the period from October 2009 to October 2010 are summarised in Figures 3, and 4 and Tables 2 and 3. Figure 5 summarises projects supporting above-mentioned 5 priorities that were approved during the last three years.

¹ SCE has two projects on Independent Assessments that are special projects related to SCE's reform process and are not included in the figures.



Figure 3. ECOTECH Projects by Priorities (period 10/2009 – 10/2010)

Figure 4. ECOTECH Projects by Priorities (period 10/2009 – 10/2010)

*percentage





Figure 5. ECOTECH Projects by Priorities 2008 – 2010²

 Table 2. Number of Projects Initiated by SCE Fora under Each ECOTECH

 Priority Work Stream (9/2009 – 10/2010)

	APEC Forum	ACT	ATC	СТ	EP	EV	۶V	HRE	H	IST	MRC	S	S	SME	TEL	ТРТ	To
Pr	Priority Work Streams		ATCWG	CTTF	WG	VG	VG	PN	HWG	WG	CWG	큐	H	ΝĒ	٣	TWG TPTWG	Total
1.	Regional Economic Integration					2		2						5	3	3	15
2.	Addressing Social Dimension of Globalisation (Inclusive Growth)							14		5			1	4			15
3.	Safeguarding the Quality of Life through Sustainable Growth		1			10	2			4	2	1		1	2	2	25
4.	Structural Reform	1	1											3	1		6
5.	Human Security		6	1	7				5	2					6	8	35
	Total	1	8	1	7	12	2	16	5	11	2	1	1	13	12	13	0 <mark>96</mark> 3

 $^{^{2}}$ 2008 and 2009 projects supporting other priorities are not included in Figure 5.

³ The SOM Steering Committee has two projects on Independent Assessments that are special projects related to SCE's reform process and were not included in the figures.

APEC Forum	⊳	AT	Q	Ŧ	ŋ	Ţ	۵	HR	т	N.	MR	z	S	S	-	ΤP		н
Source of Funding	ACT	ATCWG	CTTF	EPWG	EWG	FWG	GFPN	DWG	HWG	ISTWG	MRCWG	MTF	SCE	SME	TEL	TPTWG	TWG	Total
Operational Account				2	5	1		3		1			2	6	1	2		23
APEC Support Fund		6		4	5	1	1	1	5	2	1	1	1	3	2	8		41
TILF Special Account					2									4				6
Self-funded	1	2	1	1				2		8	1	0	0	0	9	3		28
Total	1	8	1	7	12	2	1	6	5	11	2	1	3	13	12	13	0	98

Table 3. Summary of the Types oF ECOTECH Projects Conducted by SCE Fora According To Funding Sources (9/2009 – 10/2010)

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE APEC MEDIUM-TERM ECOTECH PRIORITIES⁴

3.1 Regional economic integration

Activities to support regional economic integration occur across many fora and cover various areas from supply chain connectivity, environmental goods and services to investment in specific sectors.

ATCWG: held a Quarantine Regulators Meeting on 14-16 June 2010 in Vina del Mar, Chile (Santiago). The meeting focused on the Australian Fumigation Accreditation Scheme (AFAS) methodology and how it could be adapted to other quarantine treatments. The meeting also formally implemented multilateral arrangements between all interested economies to replace some of the bilateral arrangements that currently exist between Australia and other economies under AFAS.

EWG: The group's work focuses on the area of energy goods and services, where it could add value to initiatives for trade and investment facilitation. Some of EWG's projects that support this priority include:

• Pursuant to EMM-9 instructions, EWG is working to strengthen the APEC Energy Standards Information System (ESIS) and to conduct *Collaborative Assessments of Standards and Testing (CAST)* for key types of energy-intensive appliances that have been identified by the Cooperative Energy Efficiency Design for Sustainability (CEEDS) project that EWG sponsored. These appliances include lighting (especially through highly efficient Light Emitting Diodes or LEDs) motors, air conditioners, refrigerator-freezers, and electronics. By cataloguing and understanding the full range of standards and testing methods for these appliances across the APEC region, it should be possible to better align them and to devise more consistent labels to promote their purchase, manufacture and trade.

⁴ This session reports on activities undertaken in 2010 and part of 2009 (that has not been reported in the 2009 SOM Report on ECOTECH). These activities have been organised by 2010 projects as well as projects of the previous years.

- Project "Reducing barriers to trade through development of a common protocol for measuring the seasonal energy efficiency (SEER) of air conditioners". On this simple platform, the SEER value can be calculated based upon weather data and the test results of the air conditioners. This platform is applicable to both constant-speed air conditioners and inverter-type air conditioners, with a capacity under 14 kW. It would help all economies establish and reach their goals of energy savings and related CO2 reductions provide social benefits from improved air conditioner performance and increase economic activity by liberalizing the performance standards for over 50 million APEC manufactured air conditioners.
- Another project is "*Reducing Trade Barriers for Environmental Goods and Services in the APEC Region (Mapping Exercise for Energy Efficient Products).*" Its objective is to address non-tariff barriers (NTBs) with regard to energy efficiency standards, labelling, and testing procedures vis-à-vis key electric appliances by analyzing their convergence and divergence among APEC economies with updated information contained in the APEC Energy Standards Information System (ESIS) database. The project aims to help reduce business compliance costs of adapting manufacturing processes and in-house testing to widely varying efficiency standards and testing practices across the region, and thereby to increase trade and investment in energy-efficient products.
- Project "Actions by Government and Industry to Promote LNG Trade and Investment in the APEC Region" with focus on (i) harmonization of emission standards and standards for liquefied natural gas (LNG)/gas quality and interchange-ability; (ii) auditing and documenting existing measures that constrain trade in gas, including permitting, licensing and approvals processes; and (iii) development of best practices in market design and regulation.

HRDWG: The group supports the implementation of this priority mainly through activities that help equip people with necessary skill to participate in and benefit from the economic integration. Some examples are as follows:

- Project "Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) Strategy for Emerging Enterprises Capacity Building for Successful Entry to the Global Supply Chain". The project addresses the challenges of emerging enterprises, both in developed and developing economies, in enhancing their preparedness of intellectual property rights (IPR) protection. Practical training designed to take advantage of the diversity of APEC members, both economic and technological development as well as cultural background was scheduled in August and September 2010. A variety of issues from among APEC members in relation to IPR strategy have been collected, including technological know-how, innovation, IPR protection processes and dispute settlements. In addition to the training course design, practical educational materials for the training have also been developed.
- Project "Strategic Approach to Sustainable Capacity Building Meeting the Challenges of Regional Economic Integration in APEC" is to develop a strategic framework for sustainable capacity building programs in APEC to improve the institutional and human capacity of government, business as well as civil society in meeting the new challenges of APEC economic integration. Main activities of the project are: (1) taking stock of existing materials within and outside of APEC community on TILF-related subjects; (2) redesigning integrated and multi-faceted programs based on the current and future capacity building needs; (3) identifying issues and making policy recommendations; and (4) establishing a network of

institutions and individuals who will update/redesign new curricula in the future on a sustained basis.

- Project "High Education Diploma Supplement" to facilitate qualifications recognition and improve understanding of education systems. Wide-spread adoption of a Diploma Supplement (DS) in the Asia-Pacific region would promote mobility of student, academic and providers through improved transparency and reliability of information about higher education qualifications and would be consistent with the European Bologna process and UNESCO regional recognition conventions. A survey is being conducted on existing practices to identify different approaches and issues in developing and implementing DS) and a follow-up workshop will be organised to progress developments. Specific outcomes of the seminar would include (1) sharing and developing information on standards upon which national DSs can be based; and (2) identification of the capacity building needs of individual APEC economies to develop and implement a DS.
- Project "*Capacity Building for Policies and Monitoring of Cross-border Education in the APEC Region*" with objectives: (1) to develop common understanding about strengthening management and monitoring for cross-border education; (2) to identify the common issues and challenges in this field; (3) to share the best practices and successful experiences among APEC members; (4) to promote cooperation in the field of policy-making and coordinating the monitoring of cross-border education among APEC economies.

SMEWG: The group has focused on assisting SMEs in expanding market access and in internationalisation process. The group requested the Policy Support Unit (PSU) to conduct a Study on *SME Market Access and Internationalisation: Medium-term KPIs for the SMEWG Strategic Plan.* It also organised (i) the *APEC Business Fellowship*: an on-going short-term in-market executive training programme designed to expose APEC SMEs to practical business practices in their respective markets and (ii) *Workshop and Training on Developing Trading House for Strengthening SME's Global Market Network* (19-22 October 2009, Jakarta, Indonesia). The group is conducting a *Study on SME Internationalisation Best Practices* to analyse the various types of trade facilitation services available in selected APEC economies.

TEL: The group is active in promoting greater convergences among member economies and liberalisation in the areas of telecommunications, and improving market access for telecom products. In 2010, the working group:

- updated the Mutual Recognition Arrangement (MRA) webpage as an one-stop page for information on the MRA including relevant contacts/websites in each economy;
- organised two workshops for "Capacity Building on Telecommunications Trade Rules and Regulatory Disciplines" in September 2009 and April 2010 to assist APEC member economies better understand telecom rules and regulatory disciplines and facilitate the adoption of WTO telecommunication disciplines
- organised a capacity building workshop on *Telecommunication Elements of RTAs and FTAs* in August 2010, as a result of which the Reference Guide for Telecommunication Elements of RTAs and FTAs was developed.
- developed the MRA of Equivalence of Technical Requirements (MRA-ERT) for TELMIN8 endorsement at the 8th APEC Ministerial Meeting on the Telecommunications and Information Industry (TELMIN8); conducted two workshops on "Enabling Information

Communications Technology Investment for Growth and Recovery" which looked into implementation of key elements in the digital prosperity checklist; and an effective practices guide is expected to be completed by the end of 2011.

- conducted a Stock-take of Regulatory Convergence in the APEC Region to explore the understanding of convergence within current policy, regulatory and legislative environments across APEC;
- conducted: (a) survey on *Implementation of Mutual Recognition Arrangement for Conformity Assessment (MRA-CA)* to determine which economies are implementing the MRA and to identify reasons/ difficulties faced by economies which are not yet fully implementing the MRA; and (b) *Market Surveillance* to collect information on the current market surveillance practices among APEC member economies
- provided annual report to CTI on the implementation of the WTO Reference Paper.

TPTWG: The group has been one of the key fora advancing the APEC Supply Chain Connectivity Framework. The group is collaborating with CTI and EC in activities of 8 Focus Groups that address the chokepoints identified in the Supply Chain Connectivity Initiative (SCI). The TPTWG Air Service Subgroup continues to review the implementation of the eight options (multiple airline designation) for the more competitive air services in APEC before selecting another option as the second priority. Economies shared information on progress of air services liberalisation and air services arrangement in the future meetings as it can promote mutual understanding of the progress in expansion of air connectivity

The group is implementing the project "Survey of Supply Chain Workforce Development Needs & Conducting Seminars on Managing Operations and Risk in Intermodal Global Supply Chain Operations" to identify current workforce development needs in the intermodal and global supply chain industry and develop a roadmap for APEC to use for future supply chain training initiatives. The working group adopted the Strategy for the Adoption of Measures to Include GNSS Technologies in the Development of Seamless Transportation Systems for 2010 – 2015.

TPTWG's Maritime Expert Group finalised the study "Impacts of Trade and Transport Policy on International Cargo Shipping and Economic Activities", which looks at the quantitative effects of trade and transport policies such as trade liberalisation and facilitation in APEC economies towards the Bogor Goals and developing efficient transport systems including both infrastructure investment and regulatory framework design.

TWG: The group has been implementing a capacity building program to assist member economies in developing Tourism Satellite Account (TSA) methodology and understanding its uses to provide basis for promoting liberalisation and facilitation in tourism services as well as in further strengthening the tourism industry's sustainability within the APEC region. This will enable governments and private sector to make decisions in a changing policy environment conducive to tourism growth and vital indicators on the socio-economic benefits to tourism destinations.

3.2 Addressing social dimension of globalisation (Inclusive Growth)

ATCWG: The group held a *Workshop on the Role of SMEs on Poor Power Empowerment* to share experiences and best practices in developing and implementing programs and policies to enhance poor rural community participation on development related with poverty alleviation through development of small and medium enterprises (SMEs).

GFPN: The group contributed to this priority with the following two projects: (1) *APEC Workshop on Microfinance and MicroCredit: Aim: Best Practices on Strategic Policy Development Workshop on Microenterprise Financing* (held back-to-back with Women Leaders Network (WLN) program on 3-6 August, 2009 in Singapore) to promote microcredit best practices for small businesses in the APEC region; and (2) project on "*Public Policies to Promote Women Entrepreneurs*" was completed with a workshop held in May 2010 in Lima and the guidelines on public policies for supporting the access and increase of women's participation in e-commerce.

HRDWG: The group has implemented a number of activities supporting this priority including: (1) one-day seminar in March 2010 on promising practices in encouraging gender equity in mathematics and science education and expects to deliver a practice guide by the end of 2010; (2) literature review, survey of APEC economies, and a workshop on Promoting Good Practice Policies for Young People's Work in APEC Economies – and its final report has been published; (3) project "Human Resource Impacts of the Global Economic Crisis: What Is Working in APEC Members' Social Safety Nets and Labour Market System Policies" - research paper on active and passive labour market responses was completed and published it on the APEC publications database; July 2010 workshop in which case study presentations on individual economy responses to the economic crisis were presented; (4) project Develop a Framework on Mentoring/Coaching Out Of School Youth On Entrepreneurship - workshop was conducted with over 100 participants and a framework on mentoring/coaching out of school youth on entrepreneurship was developed; and (5) project 21st Century Mathematics and Science Education for All - a conference was held in March of 2010 with a special one day seminar on gender equity in mathematics and science education. The project report was subsequently published on the APEC publications database and final deliverable of the practice guide on gender equity is expected by the end of the 2010.

MTF: The group organised a Workshop on Creating a Framework for Corporate Social Responsibility Stakeholder Dialogue: Mining Industry Operations (23-24 September 2009, Lima, Peru) to improve the efficiency, transparency and accountability concerning the sustainable development of an economy's natural resource endowment at the local, regional and national levels in APEC economies. It is in the implementation stage of the project on Balancing Competing Demands of Mining, Community and Environment to Achieve Sustainable Development in Mining Sector with focus on capacity building related to mine reclamation and sustainable mining activities practices and gender analysis of the social, economic, and environmental impact of mining to both men and women.

SMEWG: The group organised a number of activities that help SME benefit from the economic integration process and cope with the crises, including:

• APEC SME Crisis Management Training Workshop on 21-22 June, in Chinese Taipei with objectives: (i) to familiarize workshop trainees with the nature of international crises and their impact on SMEs; (ii) to raise awareness of the importance of a Crisis Management Plan (CMP) among trainees and equip them with skills to develop a good CMP; and (iii) to cooperate with APEC developing economies to hold training workshops. *Monitor Center* was

set up to disseminate electronic information on SMEs economic crisis through their website www.apecscmc.org and to create awareness on a Crisis Management Plan.

- Workshop and Training on Developing Trading House for Strengthening SME's Global Market Network (19-22 October 2009, Jakarta, Indonesia). The aim of the workshop was to (i) share experiences on how SMEs in developing economies can access the global market directly or through a trading house; ii) discuss barriers and gender issues faced by local trading houses and SME direct exporters; iii) provide guidance on success factors of SME direct exporters and trading houses; and iv) gain commitment from participating APEC economies to support and establish a global market network for SMEs' products.
- The group has been conducting a survey in several economies on support provided to microenterprises owned by rural and urban women and indigenous peoples and use of value chain development as a tool for poverty reduction and micro-enterprise growth.
- APEC Workshops on Software Standard Suitable for SME and Very Small Enterprises (under implementation).

TEL: Completed Final Report on the Workshop on Universal Access to Broadband Services with a set of recommendations on policies and strategies to achieve the goal of universal access to broadband by 2015. The group also approved several proposals to encourage broadband deployment in member economies: (1) *Broadband usages to enhance networks and services;* (2) *Demand-based policy approaches to foster universal broadband access;* and (3) *Workshop on Infrastructure Sharing to Foster Broadband Access.*

3.3 Safeguarding the quality of life through sustainable growth

ATCWG: The group supports this priority work streams through activities that promote sustainable agricultural production and rural development as well as biofuels. Some examples are:

- International Symposium on Biofuels from Agricultural and Agro-Industrial Wastes was held on 24-26 May 2010 in Chiang Mai, Thailand. The underlying objective is to exchange knowledge on recent progress of biofuels technologies as well as policies between APEC economies in order to understand and realize the complex interaction of food and energy securities. The increased cooperation will help foster conditions for the expeditious development and commercialization of next generation biofuels made from non-food materials, including examination of key economic, environmental and other issues impacting the emergence of this technology. A new network of biofuels researchers/scientists and industry leaders has also been established in this Symposium.
- Workshop on Agricultural Land Use and its Effect in APEC Member Economies was organised in October, 2009 to help improve agricultural land use management level and awareness of the effect of agricultural land use and its change on climatic change and food security, and at the same time to enhance realization of sustainable agricultural land use and to strengthen productivity and competitiveness of agro-products in the APEC economies.
- International Workshop on Greenhouse Gases (GHG) from Livestock Industries in APEC Member Economies was held in July 2009 to facilitate sharing information on GHG emissions from livestock industries among APEC member economies and included discussions on the adaptation of livestock industries to climate change.

EWG: Many of EWG projects are related to sustainable development and better environment. EWG has been implementing a series of projects on energy efficiency, bio-fuel resources, renewable energy, and natural gas trade, cleaner production of coal-fired power, and carbon capture and storage including:

- *APEC Peer Review on Energy Efficiency (PREE)* with reports completed for Vietnam and Thailand and reviews for Chinese Taipei, Peru and Malaysia are underway;
- At the instruction of Energy Ministers, EWG is implementing an *APEC Low-Carbon Model Town* project to conduct feasibility studies so as to encourage creation of low-carbon communities in urban development plans;
- Cooperative Energy Efficiency Design for Sustainability (CEEDS) projects with a focus on a single energy sector across all APEC economies in each of its exercises. Each CEEDS includes two workshops to identify and implement "high performance" energy efficiency policies and measures for the chosen sector. CEEDS Exercise #1 was aimed at Appliances Energy Efficiency Standards & Labelling (AEES&L), for which the first workshop was held in Chinese Taipei in late 2009 and the second workshop was held in Tokyo, Japan on 1-2 March 2010. CEEDS Exercise #2 will focus on energy efficiency in the building sector with a second pair of workshops being under developed to be held in for Thailand and in Hong Kong, China respectively.
- Other projects are: (1) Permitting issues related to carbon capture and storage for coal-based • power plant projects in APEC developing economies; (2) Survey of Market Compliance Mechanisms for Energy Efficiency Programs; (3) Increasing the Knowledge and Awareness of Carbon Capture and Storage: CCS Capacity Building in the APEC Region (Phase V); (4) Establishment of Guidelines for the Development of Biodiesel Standards in the APEC Region; (5) Workshop on Best Practices in Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy in Commercial Buildings; (6) Workshop on Recent Advances in Utility Based Financial Mechanisms that Support Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency; (7) Alternative Transport Fuels – Implementation Guidelines; (8) Successful Business Models for New and Renewable Energy in the APEC Region; (9) Best Practices in New and Renewable Energy Technologies in Urban Areas; (10) Potential for Growth of Gas as Clean Energy Source in APEC Developing Economies; (11) Lessons Learned in Upgrading and Refurbishing Older Coal-Fired Power Plants - A Best Practice Guide for Developing APEC Economies; (12) Carbon Dioxide Capture and Geological Sequestration - Phase III; and (13) Project Assessment of the Capture and Storage Potential of CO2 Co-Produced with Natural Gas in South-East Asia; (14) Addressing Grid – Interconnection Issues in Order to Maximize the Utilization of new and renewable energy sources; (15) Energy Management in APEC; and (16) Operation of APEC Energy Database and Analysis.

ISTWG: The group has been active in addressing the issues of climate change and energy security, and sustainable development from the perspective of science and innovation. This year, the group implemented a number of projects including: (1) 2^{nd} APEC Future Scientist Conference in Thailand on 1-6 February 2010 where the team's project was to build "Carbon-Zero Eco House"; (2) Establishment of Academia-Industry Network to Develop Bio-Energy and Conserve the Natural Ecosystem in APEC Economies in October 2010. This is intended to contribute to reducing the regions dependency on imported fossil fuel though biomass derived alternatives and to this end strengthen collaboration and build regional capability in the field. The electronic International

Molecular Biology Laboratory (eIMBL) Network will be employed to disseminate information and collaborate on research. A workshop to assess the state of bio-energy research in the region was held in March 2010 in Seoul, Korea; (3) Research project on the "Futures of Low Carbon Society: Climate Change and Strategies for Economies in APEC Beyond 2050"; (4) International Seminar on *Innovation Technology of Helium Industrial Processing and its Influence on Economic Impacts of Helium Distribution under Regional Aspects in the APEC Zone* (Nakhodka City, Russia in October, 2010); (5) project on developing the *Eco-Environmental Impact Assessment Estimating Tool*; and (6) project on *APEC Virtual Center for Environmental Technology Exchange*.

MRCWG and FWG: The groups were working on specific recommendations to 3rd APEC Oceansrelated Ministerial Meeting (AOMM3) on marine debris, ecosystem-based management, oceans and climate change, including economic impacts on fisheries and adaptation actions on fisheries productivity, illegal, unreported and unregulated fishing, marine fisheries productivities.

FWG: has been implementing the following projects: (1) *The Importance of Fisheries and Aquaculture for APEC Economies* to raise awareness amongst APEC officials of the importance of the fisheries and aquaculture sector for APEC economies; (2) Workshop on Market-Based Improvements in Live Reef Food Fish Trade in October 2010 to improve the management of the Live Reef Food Fish Trade (LRFFT) – one of the most lucrative businesses in the Coral Triangle (Indonesia, Papua New Guinea, Malaysia and the Philippines) – so that LRFFT would not pose major challenges to the future sustainable use of this marine resource.

MRCWG is implementing a project on "Fish and Biodiversity Cross Boundaries: Enabling Collaborative Capacity Building to Improve the Protection of Marine Resources and Strengthen Future Economic Security and Ocean Wealth in the Asia- Pacific Region." The group also organised the 10th APEC Roundtable Meeting on the improvement of the Business Private Sector in the Sustainability of the Marine Environment. Key outcomes from the roundtable is the list of recommendations on financial support for conservation and the promotion of green labels, broader participation of environmental non-governmental organizations (NGOs), the reinforcement of 2010.

MTF: The group organised a workshop on "Balancing competing demands of mining, community and environment for achieve sustainable development in mining sector" (1-2 September 2010, Seoul, Korea) to (i) develop reference database on policies, regulations, standards, and technical guidelines related to mine rehabilitation, reclamation, and mine closure among APEC economies; (ii) build capacity of APEC developing member economies in mine rehabilitation and reclamation and (iii) establish best practices for domestic policies related to mining industry with deeper consideration of environmental and social issues. The taskforce also held a Workshop on Creating a Framework for Corporate Social Responsibility Stakeholder Dialogue: Mining Industry Operations (23-24 September 2009, Lima, Peru) to improve the efficiency, transparency and accountability concerning the sustainable development of an economy's natural resource endowment at the local, regional and national levels in APEC economies. The Report on Sustainable Development of Mining Sector in APEC was completed for submission to UN Commission on Sustainable Development (UNCSD) as part of the UNCSD's review of mining in 2010–2011.

TEL: The group conducted a *Green Information Communications Technology (ICT) Seminar – ICT Application in the Field of Environment –* to discuss best practices in the application of ICT, promote energy conservation through the deployment of more energy efficient ICT devices and systems, and policy challenges in the promotion of green ICT in the region; endorsed the proposal on Study *Workshop on Best Practices Transfer of Green ICT for Sustainable Growth –* to raise awareness on the necessity of Green ICT and to disseminate practical knowledge and best practices on the implementation of Green ICT across APEC economies; conducted information sharing sessions at TEL40 meeting on *Cloud Computing* and how the cloud can provide more efficient delivery and management of information and applications, reduce energy consumption and ICT cost.

TPTWG: The group continues work to promote sustainable transportation, including the sustainable expansion of air transport services through the work of the APEC Aviation Emissions Task Force, cooperates with the EWG to identify and adopt energy efficient policies, practices, and technologies, and cooperates with the ATCWG to promote the development of next-generation biofuels.

TPTWG and **EWG** are jointly implementing the project "*Transport, Energy and Environmental Benefits of Intermodal Freight Strategies*" to help APEC economies to shift freight transport from energy-intensive to energy-economising transport modes, including use of alternative fuels. Benefits of intermodal freight transport would be evaluated in terms of reduced oil imports, reduced greenhouse gas emissions, and reduced transit times for freight shipments. **TPTWG** and **TWG** jointly carried a *Study of international visitor flows and greenhouse gas emissions for a template to examine the impact on APEC economies of future market based measures applying to international transport.* The template could be utilised by APEC economies to inform the development of future transport and tourism policies, negotiating positions in international fora, and economic development and planning activities.

The TPTWG hosted an Industry Forum to seek views on solutions to reduce emissions through the use of global satellite technology. The project "*Energy, Transport and Environmental Benefits of Transit Oriented Development*" is under implementation to identify baselines for the expansion of transit-oriented development in terms of reduced oil imports, reduced greenhouse gas emissions and reduced travel times in the APEC member economies. The group also completed the Survey of Aviation Emissions Management Measures with recommendations for further actions.

TWG: The group completed two projects supporting under this priority. First is the project "*Identification of best practices in the use of clean technologies as a main source of energy in hostelry*". The research team assembled case studies and developed a manual that includes 19 case studies. In this manual 'clean energy' refers to an energy system which is using truly sustainable sources of energy supply to match the real energy needs of users. The second project is "*Best practices in key rural tourism resources managed by local communities (e.g. thermal resources)*". Thermal Tourism was used as a key example of how community managed tourism enterprises can succeed. Best Practices principles for community managed tourism could also apply to other types of tourism experiences. Other key rural resources may be included as well.

3.4 Structural reform

In 2010, four groups reported activities supporting this priority area as follows.

ACT: Two important achievements of ACT by the end of 2009 were the Singapore Declaration on Strengthening Governance, Enhancing Institutional Integrity and Combat Corruption and APEC Guideline on Enhancing Government and Anti-Corruption. To help put in place good governance and cooperation between economies to tackle corruption, ACT organised: (1) a Workshop on Successful Training Techniques for Ethics of Public Officials; (2) ACT-ABAC Roundtable on Market Integrity and Clean Markets in September 2010.

As part of the public-private effort to fight corruption, ACT has piloted a project to implement the APEC Code of Conduct in Business to selected APEC economies. The group has also completed Stocktaking of Bilateral and Regional Arrangements on Anti-corruption Matters Between/Among APEC Member Economies, which, taking into account work done by ADB/OECD, surveyed the various bilateral and multilateral legal international cooperation instruments between APEC economies and some other Asia-Pacific economies. A comprehensive repository of the legal

ATCWG: Workshop on Ease of Doing Business (EoDB) was held on 16-17 August 2010 in Chinese Taipei with the introduction of Agricultural Enabling Climate Legal and Institutional Reform (AgCLIR) as a tool to identify and address agribusiness. The workshop focused on the legal and institutional constraints that impact food security.

cooperation between most of APEC economies would be useful for member economies.

SMEWG: A Capacity-Building Seminar on Access to Credit for SMEs was organised with focus on improving SMEs' access to finance by reducing the costs of getting credit and stimulating the development and deepening of markets for supplying of capital for SMEs. The working group also held a Seminar on Ease of Doing Business (EoDB) – Employing Workers in June and another EoDB workshop on Registering Property in October. SMEWG is also developing a Best Practice Guide – Improving Business Regulation in APEC Member Economies which will consolidate the results and findings of the EoDB/Private Sector Development workshop series;

TEL: In response to Telecommunications Ministers' statement on the need of active and open consultation on policy and regulatory developments to enhance the policy process and to ensure that competition is encouraged and that consumers and market participants are fully informed and capacity building activities to equip regulators for their task to support competition and domestic regulatory reform, the group has undertaken the following activities:

- Regular updates on policy and regulatory developments in member economies.
- Workshops on *International Mobile Roaming Charges* to review domestic roaming mobile services and pricing; the working group later endorsed the *Guidelines on the Provision of Consumer Information on International Mobile Roaming*.
- Workshop on *Engaging Stakeholders and Consultations;* TEL produced the "*Best Practices in Decision Making Guide*" to assist economies in establishing a structured framework for stakeholder engagement.
- Annual Regulatory Roundtable for senior regulatory officials on Digital Transition, Social and Economic Impact of the Digital Dividend, and Effective Strategies for Spectrum Development
- Two workshops on *Capacity Building on Telecommunications Trade Rules and Regulatory Disciplines; Capacity Building on Telecommunications Elements of RTAs/FTAs.*
- *Stock-take of Regulatory Convergence in the APEC Region* to explore the understanding of convergence within current policy, regulatory and legislative environments across APEC.

TPTWG: The group endorsed regulatory guidelines for APEC member economies to address the anti-competitive aspects of non-ratemaking agreements among Liner Shipping companies. The Workshop on Proposed Guidelines related to Liner Shipping was held in the margins of TPT-WG33 meeting on 12 October 2010 to revise Guidelines 2-5 that are still under consideration. In cooperation with United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE), TPTWG assisted member
economies in development of vehicle regulatory processes aimed at harmonization of vehicle regulations. It also encouraged developing member economies to develop action plans to incorporate UNECE regulations and global technical regulations for motor vehicles into their domestic regulations.

3.5 Human security

A wide range of activities on food security, counter- terrorism, emergency preparedness, economic infrastructure/energy security and cyber security were implemented by working groups and taskforces.

Food security: several groups like **ATCWG**, **MRCWG and FWG** have been actively supporting the SOM Friend of the Chairs (FoTC) on Food Security in preparing for the first Ministerial Meeting on Food Security (MMFS), in particular on an Action Plan on Food Security.

ATCWG undertook a number of activities including: (1) APEC Food Security Forum held on 17-19 August 2010 in Chinese Taipei. It has been designated by SOM FoTC as one of the key activities formulating inputs for preparations for the MMFS; (2) development of a concept paper on food security as input to the MMFS; and (3) revising the group's Terms of Reference to explicitly include food security. **MRCWG** and **FWG** will develop a strategic framework to contribute to food security and safety. **FWG** is currently implementing a project on "*Potential Contribution of Small Pelagic Fish to Food Security within the Pacific Region*."

TPTWG has commenced the implementation of its project on "Security Monitoring Model and Network for Regional Supply Chain with a Particular Focus on Food Security" with expected deliverable to be baselines (policies, management, and technology applications) including a case study on food transportation security for developing a supply chain and transport security information monitoring network.

Counter-terrorism, trade security, port and aviation security, cyber security, emergency preparedness: working groups/taskforces undertook various projects in response to Leaders' and Ministers' instructions for more capacity building on counter terrorism, port and aviation security, anti-terrorist protection of energy and information infrastructure, countering terrorism financing, fighting cyber-terrorism, and protecting the food supply against terrorist contamination.

CTTF's work focused on capacity building for member economies in the area of cargo security, maritime trade security, and land transport security, counter-terrorism financing and money laundering, food defence. This included: (1) implementation of the recommendations of the Trade Recovery Pilot exercise; (2) *APEC Seminar on Securing Trade Through Counter-Terrorism Efforts: Towards Better Collaboration and Coordination among APEC Economies for Ensuring Security of Maritime Trade* (18-19 March 2010, Tokyo, Japan); (3) 2nd Air Cargo Security Workshop (in cooperation with TPTWG, 2-4 June, 2010, Singapore); (4) on-going project *Counter-Terrorism Protection of Critical Energy Infrastructure* with focus targets of cyber attacks, main types of cyber threats, possible consequences of cyber-attacks, suggestions on APEC's response, the possible establishment of the APEC Secure Information Portal on Cyber Threats; (5) *APEC Seminar on Current and Emerging Trends in Money Laundering/Terrorism Financing (ML/TF)* (20-24 September 2010, Cairns, Australia) to enhance the capacity of economies in the Asia-Pacific region to identify and assess vulnerabilities from current and emerging ML/TF methods, trends and techniques; (6) 2nd *APEC Seminar on Protection of Cyberspace from Terrorist Use and Attacks* (18-19 November 2009, Seoul, Korea); and (7) *APEC Food Defense Pilot Program - Follow-up Capacity Building Activities*

in Peru and Thailand & Food Defense Collaborative Exchange Program." The project seeks to expand upon and reinforce the successful food defense pilot projects implemented in Peru and Thailand in 2008 and 2009 respectively, particularly with new food defense awareness tools and a collaborative exchange program; it will help build a stronger foundation for future food defense efforts within the APEC region.

EPWG: Building the capacity of APEC member economies to mitigate, prepare for, respond to and recover from emergencies and natural disasters in order to protect business, trade and economic growth and communities from disruption was a key focus area of the group. This year, the group reported the following activities: (1) Seminar on Integrating Disaster Risk Reduction into Disaster Recovery (Chengdu, China, 27-29 September 2010) with focus on incorporating disaster risk reduction measures into post-disaster recovery and rehabilitation processes. This is the first seminar in a multi-year initiative to address social and economic recovery and development after large-scale disasters; (2) Workshop on Hazard Mapping and Risk and Vulnerability Assessments (Chinese Taipei, 19-21 October 2010) aimed at building domestic disaster management capabilities; (3) the APEC Emergency Management CEOs' Forum (Kobe, Japan, 19 January 2010) that focused on urban risk reduction, climate change adaptation and public-private partnerships and recognised the important contribution that can be made by businesses through Corporate Social Responsibility programs; (4) Workshop on Public-Private Partnerships for Disaster Resilience (Thailand, 24-27 August 2010); (5) Workshop on Long-Term Capacity Building for Disaster Risk Reduction in APEC (Chinese Taipei, December 2009) – recommendations from the workshop were later endorsed by the EPWG; and (6) Conference on Management and Cooperation for Preventing Forest Fires in the APEC Region (Khabarovsk, Russia, October 2010).

EWG: The group has diversified its work program to adapt to the complexities of the changing world. The group proposed to set up a dialogue platform that provides experiences and best practices to continue and build on both previous and ongoing work related to the Management System for Energy requirements (MSE) and standards, and identifies the opportunities for cooperation and harmonization for MSE standards in APEC. Pursuant to 9th Energy Ministerial Meeting (EMM-9) instructions, EWG is working to develop joint programs with the International Energy Agency (IEA) to improve response to oil and gas emergency situations in the APEC region.

HWG: The group reported the following activities: (1) APEC Capacity Building Workshop on Vaccination against Avian Influenza – held in February 2010; (2) A video-conference in March 2010 as part of *APEC Emerging Infectious Diseases Network (EINet): Expert Roundtable Series on Hot Topic in Emerging Infectious Diseases*; (3) project on "Development of an Information Platform for Avian Influenza (AI) Community Management and Engagement" and an APEC Forum on Community Management and Community Engagement for Avian Influenza Control & Prevention held on 25-26 February 2010, in Shanghai, China.

ISTWG: The group organised, in cooperation with EPWG, *APEC Climate Symposium (APCS) 2010* on *Climate Prediction and its Application* on 20-24 June 2010 in Busan, Korea. The group is implementing project *Disaster Reduction Hyperbase-Asian Application (DRH-Asia)* to provide technical assistances for disaster reduction policies in the APEC regions through application of the DRH system, a web-based information platform for disseminating useful disaster reduction technology and knowledge. The Asia-Pacific Typhoon Workshop held in Manila on 27-28 January 2010. As a result, ISTWG agreed with the establishment of an APEC Center for Typhoon and Society to reduce socio-economic losses caused by typhoon.

SMEWG: *APEC Pandemic Preparedness for SMEs Train-the-Trainer Workshop* was held on 8 June 2010 in Hong Kong, China. The purpose of this workshop was to help SMEs in APEC member economies to be better prepared for an influenza pandemic using the APEC Pandemic Preparedness Guide for SMEs that was approved by 2007 Small and Medium Enterprises Ministerial Meeting (SMEMM). Participants had an opportunity to share their experiences on how to protect SMEs from H1N1 and help them with business continuity issues..

TEL: To help member economies build a safe and trusted ICT environment, especially for minors and other vulnerable groups, the working group has undertaken a number of activities including: (1) Security and Prosperity Steering Group (SPSG) Information Exchange and Economy Reports on Cyber Security Awareness Raising Activities held at TEL40 - 42 meetings; (2) Workshop on Handheld Mobile Device Security to share information on the security aspects emerging from the convergence of voice and data and new technologies relating to handheld mobile devices. Expected project output by 2011 is a report on Best Practices and Guidelines on Handheld Mobile Device Security; (3) APEC-OECD Joint Workshop on Promoting a Safer Internet Environment for Children to analyse the current situation regarding information harmful to children and to identify common policy; (4) Workshop on Capacity Building on the Prevention of Child Sexual Exploitation Facilitated through the Internet to enhance the capacity of APEC members to respond to crime relating to online child exploitation; (5) Two training programs for Preventive Education on ICT Misuse in the Philippines (December 2009) and Indonesia (July 2010) aimed protecting novice ICT users; and (6) TEL participation in the ITU Regional Cyber-security Forum for Asia-Pacific, the Meridian Conference on critical information infrastructure protection, in the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) conference on cyber crimes, and in the OECD 25th Working Party on Information Security and Privacy (WPISP) Meeting. To contribute to APEC agenda on anti-terrorism protection of energy and information infrastructure, TEL conducted Submarine Cable Protection Info Sharing Workshop which came out with a set of recommendations including compilation of important information about each economy's submarine communication cables; development of an inventory of legislative instruments and regulatory documents relevant to submarine communication cables in each economy; raising awareness of the importance of submarine communications cables and impact on economies of outages. The project output is a Wiki site for information sharing on submarine communication cables.

TEL has also been implementing series of activities relating to cyber security and cybercrime including: (1) a self-funded *proposal on Cyber security Policy Developments in the APEC Region* to discuss how government and industry have implemented the APEC Strategy to Ensure a Trusted, Secure and Sustainable Online Environment - workshop is planned for 2011; (2) *Stop Spam Alliance* – joint initiative to combat spam amongst APEC, OECD, and ITU; (3) Extension of the self-funded PKI and e-Authentication Training Program; (4) (conducted) *Workshop on Development and Implementation of Intrusion Prevention System for Public Domain Network* to share experience and best practices on developing and implementing IPS to secure a public network from malicious code and attack; (5) *Asia Pacific Computer Emergency Response Team (APCERT) Exercises* in 2009 on monitoring of Conficker by APCERT teams and APCERT Drill in 2010 with 16 teams from 14 economies participating in an exercise to test incident response handling arrangements; (on-going) *Bilateral Cybercrime Legislative Drafting Workshop* – to assist economies in developing legislation consonant with the Council of Europe Convention on Cybercrime.

In the area of emergency preparedness, TEL conducted a *Telecommunications for Disaster Management Best Practices Workshop* to build the capacity of all economies and successfully deal with telecommunication services problems in case of disasters.

TPTWG reported the following activities: (1) APEC 2nd Air Cargo Security Workshop with industry, government and IATA participation (2-4 June 2010, Singapore); (2) Workshop on Airport Safety Oversight and Advanced Technologies (21-23 September 2010, Bali, Indonesia); (3) Seminar on the Necessity of Cultural Change to Promote Reporting on Air Safety Issues to Complement ICAO Requirements (25-26 October 2010, Lima, Peru); (4) APEC Capacity Building Workshop on Air Accident Investigation (19-20 April 2010, Singapore); (5) On-going International Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code Implementation Assistance Program (ICIAP) to assist APEC member economies develop the capacity required to effectively implement the ISPS Code, transfer of knowledge, lessons learned and best practices related to the implementation of the Code. This is achieved through two important and successful ICIAP initiatives, namely the Port Security Visit Program - a mutual and collaborative self assessment program and workshops on the use of the APEC Manual of Maritime Security Drills and Exercises for Port Facilities; and (6) on-going Survey of Marine Accident Investigation Capability and Capacity of Member Economies to meet the IMO Code of International Standards and Recommended Practices for a Safety Investigation into a Marine Casualty or Marine Incident; and (7) the group is in the process of development of a compendium which will be a 'practical manual' for best practices of cost-effective safety measures to improve motorcycle and scooter safety users and road safety policy makers in APEC member economies.

4. Key Outcomes

4.1 Selected key achievements of SCE fora

Agricultural Technical Cooperation Working Group (ATCWG)

- Development of ATCWG Medium-term Work-plan;
- Contribution to the success of the *APEC Ministerial Meeting on Food Security* (16-17 October, Niigata, Japan) including concept paper on food security;
- Revised Terms of Reference of the working group;
- International Workshop on Greenhouse Gases from Livestock Industries in APEC Member Economies was held on 7-10 July, 2009 in Seoul, Korea
- International Symposium on Biofuels from Agricultural and Agro-Industrial Wastes (24-26 May 2010, Chiang Mai, Thailand) with focus on recent progress of biofuels technologies as well as policies between APEC economies in order to understand and realize the complex interaction of food and energy securities. A new network of biofuels researchers/scientists and industry leaders was established as a result of this event.
- *Quarantine Regulators Meeting* was held on 14-16 June 2010 in Vina del Mar, Chile focused on the Australian Fumigation Accreditation Scheme methodology and how it can be adapted to other quarantine treatments.
- Workshop on *Ease of Doing Business (EoDB) in Agricultural Sector* (16-17 August 2010, Chinese Taipei) with focus on the legal and institutional constraints that impact food security.
- *APEC Food Security Forum* (17-19 August 2010, Chinese Taipei) one of the key activities formulating inputs for preparations for the Ministerial Meeting on Food Security.
- Report on *APEC Regional Study Developing and Applying Traceability System in Agriculture Production and Trade* was published in April 2010.

Emergency Preparedness Working Group (EPWG)

- Development of EPWG Medium-term Work-plan
- Transformation from a Task Force to a permanent working group;
- Workshop on *Public-Private Partnerships for Disaster Resilience* (Bangkok, Thailand 24-27 August 2010);
- Seminar on Integrating Disaster Risk Reduction into Disaster Recovery (Chengdu, China 27-29 September 2010); Conference on Forest Fires: Management and International Cooperation for Preventing Forest Fires in the APEC region (Khabarovsk, Russia, 4-6 October 2010); Workshop on Hazard Mapping and Risk and Vulnerability Assessments (Chinese Taipei, 19-21 October);

- Preparations for a Workshop on School Earthquake Safety and the International Disaster Management Course; to develop a virtual advisory group or network and to reinvigorate the group's electronic outreach activities.
- *The 4th APEC Emergency Management CEOs' Forum* (Kobe, Japan, 19 January 2010), which focused on urban risk reduction, climate change adaptation and public-private partnerships. The Forum provided an important platform for greater engagement and coordination between APEC economies and other multilateral Organisations, the private sector and civil society.
- Joint activity with SMEWG on business continuity;

Energy Working Group (EWG)

- 9th Energy Ministerial Meeting (19-20 June, 2010, Fukui, Japan);
- EWG Medium-term Work-plan;
- Development of a strategy for broader and more comprehensive work on standards and testing methods for key energy-intensive appliances and building components, through close work with the committee on Trade and Investment (CTI) and its sub-fora;
- Projects to address energy investment and trade barriers in the APEC region including: workshop on 'Survey of Climate Change Polices and Other Approaches to Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emission in the APEC Region' (10 March 2010, Tokyo, Japan); project "Reducing Barriers to Trade through Development of a common protocol for measuring the Seasonal Energy Efficiency (SEER) of Air Conditioners"; and "Reducing Trade Barriers for Environmental Goods and Services in the APEC Region (Mapping Exercise for Energy Efficient Products)."
- Projects on sustainable development, clean and renewable sources of energy, alternative energy sources and technologies that contribute to reduce the emissions and improve the quality of environment including: *Implementation of CO2 Emission Reduction Technologies and Methods for Fossil Fuel Installations*; Sustainable Bio-fuels Development Practices in APEC Economies; Bio-fuel Transport and Distribution Options for APEC Economies; Addressing Grid-Interconnection issues in order to maximize the utilization of new and renewable energy sources; Energy Management in APEC Region; Operation of APEC Energy Database and Analysis; Increasing the Knowledge and Awareness of Carbon Capture and Storage CCS; Capacity Building in the APEC Region (phase V); Potential for Growth of Gas as Clean Energy Source in APEC Developing Economies; Lessons Learned in Upgrading and Refurbishing Older Coal-Fired Power Plants A Best Practice Guide for Developing APEC Economies.
- Projects on energy efficiency including; *The Cooperative Energy Efficiency Design for Sustainability (CEEDS)*; new initiatives on "*Permitting issues related to carbon capture and storage for coal-based power plant projects in APEC developing economies*", and the "*Survey of Market Compliance Mechanisms for Energy Efficiency Programs*"; *APEC Low-Carbon Model Town*.
- Final report on Thailand and Viet Nam's Peer Review on Energy Efficiency; on-going implementation of peer review for Chinese Taipei, Peru and Malaysia;

- Continued implementation of the Cooperative Energy Efficiency Design for Sustainability (CEEDS) project;
- Launching of the new "APEC Low-Carbon Model Town Project" to present successful models for coordinated usage of advanced low-carbon technologies.

Fisheries Working Group (FWG)

- 3rd APEC Ocean-related Ministerial Meetings (AOMM3) with the theme "Healthy oceans and fisheries management towards food security"
- Development of FWG 2010–2012 Strategic Plan;
- FWG's contribution to the APEC Ministerial Meeting on Food Security: AOMM3 delivered recommendations to the APEC Ministerial Meeting on Food Security on fisheries and marine resources;
- Discussion and evaluation of a FWG Communications strategy;
- A publication on "Harvesting Currency: The importance of fisheries and aquaculture for APEC economies" to raise awareness amongst APEC officials of the importance of fisheries and aquaculture sector;
- On-going project on "Market-based Improvements in Live Reef Food Fish Trade (LRFFT)" to improve the management of LRFFT and establish collaborative approaches to strengthen existing 'voluntary' standards;
- New project on "Potential Contribution of Small Pelagic Fish to Food Security within the Pacific Region".

Human Resources Development Working Group (HRDWG)

- 5th Human Resources Development Ministerial Meeting (HRDMM) (15-16 September 2010, Beijing, China).
- Development of HRDWG Medium term Work-plan;
- Projects to support "develop 21st century knowledge and skills for all' including *International Benchmarking to Improve Mathematics and Support Exemplary Practices in Travel-Eligible APEC Economies*; 21st Century Mathematics and Science Education for All in the APEC Region: Strengthening Developing Economies and Gender Equity Through Standards, Assessments, and Teachers; Best Practices in Human Resource Capacity Building in Science and Mathematics; Classroom Innovations through Lesson Study Lesson Study Implementing Mathematics Curriculum: Developing Innovative Assessment; Strategic Plan for English and other Languages; Study of Best Practices in Teaching and Learning Languages in APEC Economies: Lesson Study Applications;
- Projects to help integrate human resource development into the global economy, including *IPR Strategy for Emerging Enterprises Capacity Building for Successful Entry to Global Supply Chain; Strategic Approach to Sustainable Capacity Building Meeting the Challenges of Regional Economic Integration in APEC;*
- Projects to address the social dimension of globalization including APEC Human Resources Development Seminar/Training Programme on the Adoption of IT; Human Resource Impacts

of the Global Economic Crisis: What is Working in APEC Members' Social Safety Nets (SSN) and Labour Market System (LMS) Policies.

Health Working Group (HWG)

- Development of HWG Medium-term Work-plan;
- APEC Capacity Building Workshop on Vaccination against Avian Influenza held in February 2010;
- A video-conference in March 2010 as part of APEC Emerging Infectious Diseases Network (EINet): Expert Roundtable Series on Hot Topic in Emerging Infectious Diseases;
- Completion of project on "Development of an Information Platform for Avian Influenza (AI) Community Management and Engagement" and an APEC Forum on Community Management and Community Engagement for Avian Influenza Control & Prevention held on 25-26 February, in Shanghai, China.

Industrial Science and Technology Working Group (ISTWG)

- Development of ISTWG medium-term Work-plan;
- 8th Conference of APEC Network on Pharmaceutical Regulatory Science (2-4 November 2009, Chinese Taipei);
- Seminar on Traceability in Materials Testing to Reduce Technical Barriers to Trade (21-22 September 2009, Shanghai, China)
- 2nd International Pacific Innovation Forum Primorsky Venture Fair (November 2009, Vladivostok, Russia)
- The *Asia-Pacific Typhoon Workshop* was held in Manila 27-28 January 2010. The proposal to establish "APEC Center for Typhoon and Society" was approved by ISTWG;
- 2010 APEC R&D Management Training Program ART2010 under the theme "Human Capacity Building" (22-26 February 2010, Busan, Korea);
- Establishment of *Academia-Industry Network to Develop Bio-Energy and Conserve the Natural Ecosystem in APEC Economies*; a workshop to assess the state of bio-energy research in the region was held in March 2010, in Seoul, Korea;
- APEC Climate Symposium (APCS) 2010 on Climate Prediction and its Application (20-24 June 2010, Busan, Korea);
- The Innovation Policy Forum (20 September 2010, Sendai, Japan);
- Research project on the "*Futures of Low Carbon Society: Climate Change and Strategies for Economies in APEC Beyond 2050*" – a scenario seminar was held on 2-4 November 2009 in Phuket, Thailand and the final report will be published in 2010;
- The International Seminar on "Innovation Technology of Helium Industrial Processing and its Influence on Economic Impacts of Helium Distribution under Regional Aspects in the APEC Zone" (October 2010, Nakhodka, Russia).

Marine Resource Conservation Working Group (MRCWG)

- 3rd APEC Oceans-related Ministerial Meeting (AOMM3);
- Development of MRCWG medium-term Work-plan;
- Preparations for the AOMM3 and contribution to the Ministerial Meeting on Food Security;
- 11th APEC Roundtable Meeting on the Involvement of the Business/Private Sector in Sustainability of the Marine Environment will be held on 31 August 2 September, 2010, in Chinese Taipei;
- On-going project on "Fish and Biodiversity Cross Boundaries: Enabling Collaborative Capacity Building to Improve the Protection of Marine Resources and Strengthen Future Economic Security and Ocean Wealth in the Asia-Pacific".

Small and Medium Enterprise Working Group (SMEWG)

- 17th Small and Medium Enterprises Ministerial Meeting (SMEMM);
- Development of SMEWG Medium-term Work-plan;
- Progress made by member economies on the implementation of the Strategic Plan 2009 2012;
- Workshop on "Effective Implementation and Assessment of SME Innovation Policy" (7th June 2010, Hong Kong, China) was organised as part of the Daegu Initiative First Cycle Assessment;
- Ease of Doing Business "Employing Workers" Seminar (9 June 2010, Hong Kong, China) which focused on improving SMEs' access to labour.
- Ease of Doing Business Workshop on Registering Property (October 2010, Gifu, Japan)
- APEC SME Crisis Management Training Workshop (21-22 June, 2010, Chinese Taipei) and the establishment of a Monitor Center that is disseminating electronic information on SMEs economic crisis through their website www.apeccsmc.org and to create awareness of a Crisis Management Plan;
- Study on "SME Market Access and Internationalization: Medium-term KPIs for the SMEWG Strategic Plan" carried out by PSU at the request of SMEWG;
- On-going project on "Supply Movement Framework and Tools (Phase IV of Models for Supporting Women's Micro-Enterprise Development: Best Practices and Guidelines Assessment and Recommendations from Phase III of a Four-Phase Study for APEC)";
- On-going development of Best Practice Guide Improving Business Regulation in APEC Member Economies (based on knowledge shared from the EoDB/Private Sector Development workshop series).

Telecommunications and Information Working Group (TEL)

 8th Ministerial Meeting on Telecommunications and Information Industry (TELMIN8) (30 – 31 October, Okinawa, Japan)

- *The 2010-2015 Strategic Plan* which focuses on TEL's work along the following themes: development of ICT to promote new growth; enhancing socio-economic activities through the use of ICT; promoting a safe and trusted ICT environment; promoting regional economic integration; and strengthening cooperation in the ICT sector.
- Final text of *Mutual Recognition Arrangement (MRA) on Equivalence of Technical Requirements (MRA-ETR)*;
- Guidelines on the Provision of Consumer Information on International Mobile Roaming;
- Guidelines on Telecommunications Elements of RTAs and FTAs;
- Workshops on IPv6: "*Facing the Future of Internet*", 24 September 2009, Mexico; "*Transforming the Internet*" 6 May 2010, Chinese Taipei; and "*Securing Sustainable Growth of the Internet*" 2 August 2010, Brunei Darussalam; draft guidelines to transition from IPv4 to IPv6 under consideration;
- Workshop on Development and Guide on Implementation of Intrusion Prevention Systems for Public Domain Network, 5-6 October; Bandung, Indonesia;
- Workshop on Telecommunications Elements of RTAs/FTAs, 3 August 2010, Brunei Darussalam;
- Stocktake of Regulatory Convergence in the APEC Region;
- *Workshops on International Mobile Roaming Charges* (held in Singapore on 14 April, in Mexico on 25 26 September 2009, and in Chinese Taipei on 6 May 2010);
- *Capacity Building Workshops on Telecommunications Elements of RTAs/FTAs* (August 2010) and Guidelines on Telecommunications Elements of RTAs and FTAs;
- *Workshops on Enabling ICT Investment for Growth and Recovery* (held in Mexico on 24 September 2009, and in Chinese Taipei on 6 May 2010);
- Workshop on Cyber Security Voluntary ISP Codes of Practice, 6 May 2010, Chinese Taipei;
- Capacity Building Workshop within the Asia-Pacific Region in the Prevention of Child Sexual Exploitation Facilitated through the Internet, 8 May 2010, Chinese Taipei;
- Green ICT Seminar, 3 August 2010, Brunei Darussalam.

Transportation Working Group (TPTWG)

- TPTWG Medium-term Work-plan;
- A strategy and action program for 2010–2015 of the APEC Global Navigation Satellite System Implementation Team (APEC/GIT) to improve the adoption of measures to include GNSS technologies in the development of seamless inter-modal transportation systems;
- Workshop on Management of Security, Safety and Emerging Technology in Intermodal Transportation and Supply Chain Systems (26-30 October 2009, Ho Chi Minh, Viet Nam).
- Study of international visitor flows and greenhouse gas emissions for a template to examine the impact on APEC economies of future market based measures applying to international transport was completed in January 2010. Final Report and Template is now available on the TPT-WG website;

- Joint TPTWG and ISO Workshop on Public Transport Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Information Exchange Standards (19 April 2010, New Orleans, USA);
- APEC Capacity Building Workshop on Air Accident Investigation (19-20 April 2010, Singapore);
- *APEC* 2nd *Air Cargo Security Workshop* with industry, government and The Air Transport Association (IATA) participation was held on 2-4 June 2010, in Singapore;
- Public-private Symposium on Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) applications in transportation modes (22 June 2010, Seattle, USA);
- Workshop on *Airport Safety Oversight and Advanced Technologies* (21-23 September, 2010, Bali, Indonesia);
- Seminar on the Necessity of Cultural Change to Promote Reporting on Air Safety Issues to Complement ICAO Requirements to be held on 25-26 October 2010, in Lima, Peru;
- International Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code Implementation Assistance Program (ICIAP) – 4th workshop on "The Use of the APEC Manual of Maritime Security Drills and Exercises for Port Facilities" (6-8 May, 2010, Papua New Guinea); a 5th workshop (22-24 September, 2010, Manila, the Philippines). Port Security Visits to Thailand (May 2010) and Vietnam (August 2010) have been undertaken and visits to Indonesia (October) and Brunei (December) are scheduled for the balance of 2010;
- Workshop on *Guidelines Relating to Liner Shipping* was held on 12 October 2010, in the margins of TPTWG33 meeting in Tokyo, Japan;
- A study on "Impacts of Trade and Transport Policy on International Cargo Shipping and Economic Activities" was finalized in October 2010.

Tourism Working Group (TWG)

- 6th Tourism Ministerial Meeting (TMM);
- Development of the five-year Strategic Plan for the TWG;
- Best Practices in Key Rural Tourism Resources Managed by Local Communities (e.g. Thermal Resources) project was completed with the publication of a manual (17 case studies) on the APEC website;
- Identification of Best Practices in the Use of Clean Technologies as a Main Source of Energy in Hostelry project was completed with the publication of a manual of 19 case studies.
- Capacity Building on Tourism Satellite Account as basis for Promoting Liberalisation and Facilitation on Tourism Services survey and four in-economy workshops in Lima, Jakarta, Bangkok and Bandar Seri Begawan were held in March 2010.

Anti-Corruption and Transparency Experts' Task Force (ACT)

- Development of ACT Medium-term Work-plan;
- ACT-ABAC Roundtable on Market Integrity and Clean Markets: Combating Corruption in the Illicit Trade and Dismantling Illicit Network (17 September 2010 in Sendai, Japan).

- Workshop on *Successful Training Techniques for Ethics of Public Officials* (16 September 2010, in Sendai, Japan)
- Completion of the project on "Stocktaking of Bilateral and Regional Arrangements on Anti Corruption matters between/among APEC member economies" which takes into account of work done by ADB/OECD, surveys the various bilateral and international legal cooperation instruments between APEC economies and some other Asia-Pacific economies.
- Seminar on the Implementation of Code of Conduct for Business held in Chile in 2010.

Counter-Terrorism Task Force (CTTF)

- CTTF Medium-term Work-plan;
- Progress in the implementation of the recommendations from the *APEC Trade Recovery Program (TRP)* pilot exercise;
- Updated Counter-Terrorism Action Plans (CTAPs) for 17/21 member economies
- Coordination with TEL on the issue of cyber-security; with TPTWG on maritime and port security; with EWG on critical energy infrastructure; and with BMG on travel security;
- 2nd APEC Seminar on Protection of Cyberspace from Terrorist Use and Attacks (18-19 November 2009, Seoul, Korea);
- APEC Seminar on Securing Trade through Counter-Terrorism Efforts: Towards better collaboration and coordination among APEC Economies for ensuring security of maritime trade" (18-19 March 2010, Tokyo, Japan) promoted secured trade through counter-terrorism measures in the areas of maritime and port security;
- *Air Cargo Security Workshop* (2 4 June, 2010, Singapore) to promote further exchange of best practice and lessons learned in the area of air cargo security, facilitate the establishment of capacity building relationship between donor economies and those economies seeking to establish or improve air cargo security, and to explore available technological solutions to the unique challenges of air cargo security;
- APEC Seminar on *Current and Emerging Trends in Money Laundering/Terrorism Financing* (*ML/TF*) (20-24 September 2010, in Cairns, Australia) with the aim of enhancing the capacity of economies in the Asia-Pacific region to identify and assess vulnerabilities from current and emerging ML/TF methods, trends and techniques;
- Progress with the initiative on "Counter-Terrorism Protection of Critical Energy Infrastructure";
- APEC Food Defense Pilot Program— Follow-up Capacity Building Activities in Peru and Thailand & Food Defense Collaborative Exchange Program" to build capacity of APEC economies to prevent deliberate tampering and contamination of the food supply, thereby building a stronger foundation for future food defense efforts within the APEC region;

Gender Focal Point Network (GFPN)

• Development of GFPN Medium-term Work-plan;

- Progress by individual member economies in the implementation of the Framework for the Integration of Women in APEC;
- APEC Workshop on Microfinance and MicroCredit: Aim: Best Practices on Strategic Policy Development Workshop on Microenterprise Financing (3 6 August 2009, Singapore);
- Completion of a project on "*Public policies to promote women entrepreneurs*" with a workshop held in May 2010 in Lima and the guidelines on public policies for supporting the access and increase of women's participation in e-commerce;
- Coordination with SCE and SMEWG in organizing the Women's Entrepreneurship Summit 2010;
- A Survey (2009–2010) focusing on support for micro-enterprises owned by women and indigenous peoples and the use of value chain development as a tool for poverty reduction and micro-enterprise growth. The objective of this survey was to create an operational model for establishing and sustaining a trade network to promote micro-enterprise products in APEC economies, with an emphasis on micro-enterprises owned by rural women and indigenous peoples;
- On-going work on the development of GFPN Communication Strategy.

Mining Task Force (MTF)

- Development of MTF medium-term work-plan;
- Report on Sustainable Development in the APEC Mining Sector;
- Completed peer review of the current situation of the mining sector in Russia. Australia's peer review is under preparation;
- Workshop on *Creating a Framework for Corporate Social Responsibility Stakeholder Dialogue: Mining Industry Operations* (23-24 September 2009, Lima, Peru)
- Workshop on "Balancing competing demands of mining, community and environment for achieve sustainable development in mining sector" (1-2 September 2010, Seoul, Korea) with the objective of developing a reference database on policies, regulations, standards, and technical guidelines related to mine rehabilitation, reclamation and mine closure among APEC economies;
- On-going work to initiate dialogue with European Union on the classification of nickel compounds and its potential far-reaching adverse economic impact for APEC nickel producing and consuming economies.

The following recommendations are proposed to the 22nd APEC Ministerial Meeting:

- 1. Endorse the 2010 SOM Report on Economic and Technical Cooperation;
- 2. Welcome the progress of work on strengthening APEC ECOTECH activities, in particular the completion and implementation of the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities and work on enhancing fora accountability and communications;
- 3. Welcome the achievements of the Working Groups and SOM Task Forces and welcome the ongoing improvements that have been achieved through the Program of Independent Assessments of all SCE fora; and
- 4. Welcome 2010 contributions to the APEC Support Fund from Australia, Japan, Russia and Chinese Taipei.

Document is designed for double-sided printing. Blank pages have been deliberately included to allow correct pagination.

Annex 1

SOM Steering Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation

Terms of Reference (February 2010)

Introduction

In 1996, Ministers adopted the Framework for Strengthening Economic Cooperation and Development to further strengthen economic and technical cooperation (ECOTECH) in APEC. To effectively implement the ECOTECH agenda, the SOM Sub-Committee for Economic and Technical Cooperation (ESC) was established in 1998. This was later elevated to the SOM Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation in 2002. As part of the reform process, with effect from 2006, the ESC was transformed into the SOM Steering Committee on ECOTECH (SCE) with an enhanced mandate to strengthen the prioritisation and effective implementation of ECOTECH activities by various APEC fora. In 2009, SOM agreed to further strengthen the SCE's policy guidance role as recommended by the SCE internal review.

Objectives

- To strengthen implementation of the APEC's ECOTECH activities by prioritising in accordance with Leaders' and Ministers' commitments, coordinating and providing oversight of the work of APEC fora.
- To provide policy guidance on ways to contribute to APEC's ECOTECH goals.
- To coordinate ECOTECH objectives and priorities set by APEC's Economic Leaders and Ministers.

Membership

- All Senior Officials of APEC economies. .
- Chairs/Lead Shepherds of relevant APEC for awill be invited to participate in the first SCE meeting of the year at SOM I as the Meeting of the ECOTECH Committee of the Whole (SCE-COW).

Internal organisation arrangements

- The operation and effectiveness of the SCE will be reviewed periodically, no less than every two years.
- SCE will report directly to the SOM.
- Chair to be the Senior Official of the incoming host economy and Vice-chair to be the Senior Official of the host economy.
- SCE will be assisted by the APEC Secretariat.

Meeting arrangements

- SCE will meet three times a year in the margins of SOM. At SOM I, SCE-COW will be convened and include Chairs/Lead Shepherds of relevant APEC fora.
- Policy elements of the SCE agenda will be discussed in the SOM Retreat Meeting; routine and technical matters will be discussed at regular SCE meetings which will be scheduled back to back with SOMs.

Work mandate

The SCE will coordinate action-oriented and integrated strategies in accordance with Leaders' and Ministers' commitments, the 1996 APEC Framework for Strengthening Economic Cooperation and Development, and the APEC Framework to guide ECOTECH activities. It will:

- Provide policy recommendations on APEC ECOTECH-related issues to SOM.
- Periodically review the 1996 Framework for Strengthening Economic Cooperation and Development and the APEC-wide ECOTECH priorities identified in the APEC Framework to guide ECOTECH activities and make recommendations to SOM.
- Develop APEC-wide medium-term ECOTECH priorities, annual work plan and funding criteria to best implement APEC's ECOTECH activities.
- Coordinate and supervise ECOTECH-related Working Groups and SOM Special Task Groups and provide policy guidance to these groups on the ECOTECH agenda.
- Assess and direct realignment of individual work plans of Working Groups and SOM Special Task Groups with the APEC-wide medium-term ECOTECH priorities and annual objectives as outlined in the ECOTECH framework; to this purpose, all Working Groups and SOM Special Task Groups should submit their medium-term and annual work plans to the SCE no later than three weeks prior to SOM I for consideration at the SCE-COW.
- Approve and rank (in terms of relevance to policy priorities), all ECOTECH-related project proposals ahead of presentation to the Budget Management Committee (BMC).
- Evaluate the progress of Working Groups and SOM Special Task Groups in implementing and achieving APEC's ECOTECH priorities.
- Compile progress and evaluation reports under the program of Independent Assessments of Working Groups and SOM Special Task Groups for review and report to SOM.
- Review the role and operation of Working Groups and Task Forces with a view to making recommendations to the SOM on establishing, merging, disbanding or reorienting these bodies.
- Review the 1996 Framework for Strengthening Economic Cooperation and Development and the APEC-wide ECOTECH priorities identified in 2009 and make recommendations to SOM.
- Encourage active participation of relevant stakeholders in the capacity-building activities of economic and technical cooperation in accordance with the APEC rules, guidelines and practices.

Annex 2

SOM Steering Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation

2010 Work Program

1. Proposed Work Plan for 2010 in Response to Leaders'/ Ministers'/SOM Decisions and SCE Priorities.

- Finalise and implement the new ECOTECH Framework including measures to strengthen the SCE processes;
- Provide policy recommendations on issues related to ECOTECH to SOM;
- Coordinate and supervise all ECOTECH-related Working Groups and SOM Special Taskforces, and provide strategic policy guidance to these fora on the ECOTECH agenda;
- Conduct Independent Assessments of APEC fora in accordance with the approved schedule and monitor the implementation of previous reviews' recommendations by relevant fora;
- Subject to the new ranking procedure, approve and rank all ECOTECH-related project proposals ahead of presentation to the Budget Management Committee (BMC);
- Prepare annual SCE Fora Report and SOM Report on ECOTECH to Ministers
- Devise an approach to ensure accountability of all Chairs, Lead Shepherds and Program Directors to report out benefits and challenges of, and next steps for ECOTECH activities.

2. Proposed Activities in Response to Ministers' Call for Greater Engagement with:

A) International Organisations other than APEC; and

B) Asia-Pacific Business Community

- APEC's collaboration with other Multilateral Organisations (MOs)
 - o to implement SCE decisions in 2009 on APEC's engagement with other MOs
- Promote public-private partnerships to achieve APEC's ECOTECH objectives;
 - Undertake Work to Strengthen APEC's Engagement with ABAC; develop recommendations to strengthen APEC's Engagement with ABAC for consideration by SOM and AMM.

3. Identify cross cutting issues and explain how they will be coordinated across Fora.

• Coordinate with CTI, BMC, EC, and SFOM on capacity-building activities;

4. Expected Outcomes/Deliverables For 2010.

- Development of a new framework to guide ECOTECH activities in APEC;
- Progress in enhancing the cooperation between APEC and other multilateral organizations;

- Progress in strengthening APEC's engagement with ABAC via development of procedures/policies;
- Successful implementation of the Independent Assessments of the fora scheduled for completion this year, specifically the Human Resources Development Working Group (HRDWG); Transportation Working Group (TPTWG); Counter Terrorism Task Force (CTTF); Health Working Group (HWG);and Tourism Working Group (TWG);
- Commencement of new independent assessments for 2011;
- 2010 SCE Fora Report
- Submission of the annual SOM Report on ECOTECH to Ministers in November 2010.

Annex 3

Strengthening Economic and Technical Cooperation in APEC Executive Summary

1. Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities

Given APEC's limited financial resources and its diverse and extensive policy agenda, the SCE agrees that APEC should pursue a more strategic and holistic approach to all ECOTECH activities so that APEC can marshal its resources towards achieving the outcomes most important to its members, and to maximise APEC's contribution to the region.

Recommendation #1: Adopt a Holistic Approach to ECOTECH activities

• APEC will adopt a more strategic and holistic approach to ECOTECH activities by (1) revising the APEC ECOTECH priorities and (2) introducing a uniform set of criteria for all project funding.

(1) APEC ECOTECH priorities

- Based on Leaders' instructions and SCE's survey results, the APEC medium-term ECOTECH priorities are as outlined in <u>Attachment A</u>.
- These APEC medium-term priorities will be reviewed within five years

(2) Funding criteria for all projects

• Given the refocused APEC ECOTECH priorities, the funding criteria for all projects are as outlined in <u>Attachment B</u>.

2. Recommendations to Strengthen Existing SCE Processes

As the needs for ECOTECH activities grow, it is imperative to strengthen the SCE so that it can better deliver on its mandated role of "providing policy guidance on ways to contribute to APEC's ECOTECH goals." Recommendations on strengthening existing SCE processes are as below.

Recommendation #2: The timing and duration of the SCE should be reconfigured to maximise SOM participation

• The SCE's policy agenda is discussed in the SOM Retreat/Plenary as part of the discussion of ECOTECH/SCE agenda item.

Recommendation #3: The role of the Executive Director and Programme Directors should be strengthened to guide sub-fora

- The Executive Director (ED) of the Secretariat and the Programme Directors (PD) of APEC sub-fora play a greater role in conveying to sub-fora the results of the discussions on APEC priorities conducted by the SCE, SOM, AMM and AELM.
- ED and PD check and advise how sub-fora have incorporated leaders' and ministerial directives into their work plans and report back to the SCE.

Recommendation #4: The SCE should assess and where necessary re-align SCE sub-fora annual work plans and medium-term plans with APEC ECOTECH priorities

• At ISOM, the incoming host economy presents their vision and objectives for the following year. Senior Officials discuss the vision and objectives and agree on them.

- SCE Chair to inform sub-fora of the vision and objectives for the following year for the implementation in their respective area.
- Following the setting of APEC's overall medium-term vision and annual objectives, the ED and PD guide sub-fora in the development of their annual work plans and medium-term plans.
- Annual work plans and medium-term plans will be reported and considered for endorsement at SCE1 and SCE-COW.
- After consultation with SCE sub-fora Chairs / Lead Shepherds, the ED will report the progress of work plans at SCE2 and SCE3.

Recommendation #5: Streamline SCE sub-fora

• The SCE will discuss as part of its official agenda the discontinuance, merger or re-focusing of its sub-fora if one of the agreed streamlining criteria is triggered.

Recommendation #6: Improve continuity and leadership of the SCE

• A Senior Official of the incoming host economy will assume the role of Chair with support from a Senior Official of the host economy, which will serve as the vice-Chair.

1. Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities

Holistic approach to ECOTECH projects

Given APEC's limited financial resources and its diverse and extensive policy agenda, it has been decided that APEC will adopt a more strategic and holistic approach to all ECOTECH activities so that APEC can marshal its resources towards achieving the outcomes most important to its members, and to maximise APEC's contribution to the region.

Without a more strategic and goal-orientated approach, there is a grave risk that APEC will expend its resources in such a diffused manner that it will not contribute substantively to the achievement of its core objectives. The Framework to Guide ECOTECH activities represents a rejection of the notion that APEC should or can fund activities across the full span of its extensive policy agenda.

This Framework to Guide ECOTECH activities is intended to guide – but not dictate – the APEC-funded capacity building and all ECOTECH activities.

In essence, this strategic policy framework adopts a holistic approach by:

- 1. Revising the APEC ECOTECH priorities
- 2. Introducing a uniform set of criteria for all project funding, where funding is based on the nexus between the proposal and APEC's core objectives.

APEC ECOTECH Priorities

In 2006, ten ECOTECH priorities to guide SCE's work (see Table 1) were set, based on the Manila Declaration's six long-term APEC ECOTECH priority themes and the four medium-term APEC-wide ECOTECH priorities approved in 2003.

Table 1 SCE's 2006 ECOTECH Priorities			
Long-term priorities: Medium-term priorities:			
Developing human capital	• Integration into the Global Economy		
• Developing stable and efficient markets <i>through structural reform</i> *	 Human Security and Counter-terrorism Capacity Building * 		
Strengthening economic infrastructure	• Promoting the Development of		
• Facilitating technology flows and harnessing	Knowledge-Based Economies		
technologies for the future	Addressing Social Dimension of		
• Safeguarding the quality of life through environmentally sound growth	Globalization		
• Developing and strengthening the dynamism of SMEs			

In 2009, the SCE conducted several surveys to examine the capacity building needs of APEC fora and developing economies. The 2009 SCE's surveys of past capacity-building activities and the present capacity-building needs of developing APEC economies affirmed that the SCE's ten ECOTECH priorities remain appropriate and relevant. In particular, among the ten ECOTECH priorities, the following four areas have been identified in the SCE sub-fora stocktake on capacity building needs as top priority areas for future ECOTECH activities in APEC – see 2009/SOM2/SCE/008. Thus, the SCE proposes that we should focus our work and resources on these areas.

- 1. Regional Economic Integration
- 2. Human Security

- 3. Safeguarding the Quality of Life through Environmentally Sound Growth
- 4. Addressing the Social Dimension of Globalization

Moreover, the surveys showed that developing economies recognized human capital development as an important foundation for the economic and social development of the APEC region. In today's era of rapid technological progress and innovation, the world's economies are constantly seeking ways to invest in human resources to build knowledge-based economies and to achieve sustainable economic growth and prosperity. The SCE recommends that ECOTECH activities should be focused on human resource development in order to achieve the objectives of the four prioritized areas mentioned above. It was also discussed in the SCE core group meeting that given the leaders' instruction and the importance of structural reform in APEC, structural reform should also be included in the list of priorities for ECOTECH activities.

Building upon leaders' instructions, the results of discussions in the SCE Core Group and the SCE's survey of fora capacity building activities and developing economies needs– see 2009/SOM2/SCE/007 and 2009/SOM2/SCE/008, the APEC medium-term ECOTECH priorities are as outlined in Attachment A

Uniform set of funding criteria

Given the refocused priorities there is a need to have an equally refocused set of criteria to guide evaluation of project proposals. Responding to a BMC request, the SCE adapted the SCE Policy Criteria for Project Funding in 2009. These annual policy criteria have been further modified to form a uniform set of funding criteria for all projects in APEC for 2010 as found in Attachment B.

SOM will use this document as a starting point when translating Leaders and Ministers' directives into funding priorities for the following year soon after the Leaders' Meeting – either at the margins of ISOM or intersessionally. These criteria are aligned with the APEC medium-term ECOTECH priorities, but they can be modified every year to meet Leaders' and Ministers' instructions and APEC-wide annual objectives.

The introduction of holistic funding priorities is designed to ensure that all proposals are prioritised in line with APEC Leaders' and Ministers' instructions, and that there is a common basis for making funding decisions given that the demand for project funding significantly exceeds the supply.

The magnitude of voluntary contributions and the project fund eligibility criteria will remain the key levers that determine what is funded to ensure APEC cooperation to achieve liberalisation and facilitation (OAA Part One) and cooperation 'in specific areas' (OAA Part Two/Manila Declaration) to attain sustainable growth and equitable development, reduce economic disparities, improve economic and social well being, and develop a deepened sense of community.

Pr	oject Fund	Eligibility Criteria
•	Trade and Investment Liberalisation and Facilitation (TILF) Special Account	Relates to the 15 areas listed in Osaka Action Agenda Part One
٠	APEC Support Fund (ASF)	Targets developing economies in high priority ECOTECH sectors
٠	Operational Account (OA)	Supports the ECOTECH agenda

Securing sufficient funding for ECOTECH activities in APEC

The survey results of the developing economies' and APEC fora's capacity building needs show that there are strong demands for the five prioritized areas of the ECOTECH activities in APEC. All of them are important areas to implement Leaders' and Ministers' instruction and for developing economies to achieve the Bogor Goals in 2020. As mentioned earlier, it is imperative for us to maximize the limited resources and ensure that priorities are given to ECOTECH activities that best serve APEC's needs. At the same time, in order to meet demands of developing economies, we should pursue with the BMC the possibility of securing sufficient funds for ECOTECH activities in APEC, as well as continue to make our best efforts to prioritize them.

The SCE recommends APEC member economies continue to give voluntary contributions to help support ECOTECH activities. The SCE also strongly encourages members to pursue additional financial resources, including the possibility of creating a new fund for the promotion of human resource development in APEC.

Capacity building for improving project proposal design

Concerns have been raised that very few projects proposed by developing economies obtained approval in 2009. For example, in the second project cycle for 2009, out of a total 15 projects recommended for approval by the Secretariat Project Assessment Panel (SPAP), only three were proposed by developing economies. Developing economies have indicated difficulty designing high quality project proposals as measured against the five criteria (Relevance, Effectiveness, Efficiency, Impact, Sustainability) used by the SPAP to assess a project's quality. As the main objective of APEC capacity building activities is to facilitate achievement of APEC strategic objectives, BMC recommended and Senior Officials agreed that future funding decisions should be based on agreed priorities, thus funding priority projects that meet minimum quality thresholds. The Secretariat should assist APEC developing economies in putting together high-quality project proposals. At the same time, it is clear that there is a strong need for capacity building to assist developing economy project proponents to design project proposals that meet the quality thresholds required for funding.

2. Recommendations to Strengthen Existing SCE Processes

The current financial and economic crisis highlights the importance of strengthening social and economic foundations to increase and share the benefits of free trade and investment, increasing the importance of ECOTECH activities. Moreover, the year 2010 marks a very significant milestone when APEC developed economies are expected to achieve the Bogor Goals. In this context, ECOTECH activities are also important for developing economies to enhance their capacity to achieve the goals of free and open trade and investment in the region.

As the needs for ECOTECH activities grow, it is imperative to strengthen the SCE so that it can better deliver on its mandated role of "providing policy guidance on ways to contribute to APEC's ECOTECH goals."

Recommendations on strengthening existing SCE processes are as below.

	Aim	Action				
1.	Timing and duration	Convene SCE as close as possible to SOM meetings				
	of SCE to maximise					
	SOM participation	• Separate the policy and technical elements of the agenda				
		a. strategic policy elements and discussions requiring SOM				
		decision are discussed in the SOM Retreat or Plenary Meeting as				
		part of the discussion of the ECOTECH/SCE agenda item				
		b. routine and technical matters including independent assessmen reviews, management and administrative issues are discussed a regular SCE meeting which is scheduled back to back with				
		SOM. All Senior Officials are strongly encouraged to attend the meeting				
		If this schedule were applied for SCE1 in 2010:				
		Day 1: SOM Retreat (SCE); SCE's policy issues are discussed in SOM as part of the ECOTECH/SCE agenda item Day 2: SOM Plenary (morning session) and SCE (administrative issues				
		discussed in afternoon session) Day 3: SCE-COW (Committee on Whole; Chairs/Lead shepherds attend the meeting)				
2.	Strengthening the role of Executive Director and Program Directors	• Executive Director (ED) of the Secretariat and Programme Directors (PD) of sub-fora play a role in conveying to APEC sub-fora the results of the discussions held in the SCE, SOM, AMM and AELM.				
	to guide sub-fora	ED and DD shade and advice how such family have in comparated				
		• ED and PD check and advise how sub-fora have incorporated leaders' and ministerial directives into their work plans and report back to the SCE				
		• ED and PD also help the SCE Chair to strengthen coordination among sub-fora.				
3.	Assess and direct re-	In 2009 and 2010,				
	alignment of SCE sub- fora annual work plans and medium-term plans	• At ISOM, the incoming host economy presents their vision and objectives for the following year. Senior Officials discuss the vision and objectives and agree on them.				
		• SCE Chair to inform sub-fora of the vision and objectives for the following year for the implementation in their respective area.				
		• ED directs PD to make sure sub-fora follow APEC's overall vision and objectives.				
		• Under ED and PD's assistance, sub-fora submit their annual and medium-term work plans to the SCE.				
		• At SCE1 (which is held within the SOM Retreat), ED reports how sub-fora work plans meet APEC's overall vision and objectives.				
		• At SCE-COW, more details of sub-fora work plans are discussed. Senior Officials consider work plans at SCE-COW for endorsement				
		• At SCE2 and SCE 3 (which is held within the SOM Retreat/Plenary), ED reports how sub-fora are implementing their work plans on behalf of sub-fora chairs/lead shepherds.				

4. Pursue continuous improvement	 SCE Chair to inform sub-fora of the key decisions made at SCE 2 and SCE 3. At CSOM, the SCE Annual Report to Ministers is submitted Retain the independent assessment process as it is an important management tool to give guidance to SCE sub-fora. Work with the BMC to strengthen the monitoring and evaluation processes of ECOTECH projects, and develop performance indicators. 	
5. Streamline SCE-fora	 <u>The SCE will discuss as an official agenda item the discontinuance, merger or re-focusing of its sub- fora if one of the following are triggered:</u> Less than two thirds of the economies attended the meeting for two consecutive meetings. If the work plan was not endorsed by the SCE as it was not relevant enough to achieve APEC's overall vision Independent assessment recommend a merger, discontinuation or re-focusing Recommendation by member economies When there is no economy volunteering to be a chair/lead shepherd * SCE recommends that CTI will also use these criteria to streamline its sub-fora 	
6. Improve continuity and leadership of the SCE	To ensure the continuity of the chairmanship, a Senior Official of the incoming host economy will serve as Chair and a Senior Official of the host economy will serve as the vice-Chair	
7. Intra-Committee alignment	• Similarly-focused fora meeting should be held back-to-back.	
8. Cost-savings	 Sub-fora meetings should be encouraged to be held at the margins of SOMs. All meetings in the SOM margins should be held within a period of two weeks. 	

This document represents the outcomes of the SCE's mandatory periodic review of its operations and effectiveness.

Looking ahead

Now that APEC economies have agreed on the approach to APEC-funded cooperation and the vision for SCE sub-fora, there may be value in SCE members having a strategic discussion about whether APEC is best and most efficiently structured to achieve its objectives.

Attachment A

APEC ECONOMIC AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION PRIORITIES

Based on Leaders' instructions and SCE's survey results, the APEC medium-term ECOTECH priorities are as outlined in the following table:

A distinction has been made between priority 'work streams' and cross-cutting 'methodologies', that should be considered in all economic and technical cooperation work streams and activities. Cross-cutting methodologies will not be considered in the prioritization process, but will be taken into account when determining if projects recommended for funding have achieved a satisfactory quality threshold. The APEC medium-term priorities will be reviewed within five years (before 2015).

Priority Work Streams	Cross-Cutting Methodologies		
Regional Economic Integration	Develop human capital		
Addressing Social Dimension of Globalization (Inclusive	Gender equality		
Growth)	Build linkage between APEC		
Safeguarding the Quality of Life through Sustainable	economies		
Growth	• Engagement of other APEC fora,		
Structural Reform	ABAC, the private sector and other		
Human Security	multilateral organizations		

Attachment B

FUNDING CRITERIA FOR ALL APEC-FUNDED PROJECTS IN 2010

In assessing APEC-funded projects in 2010, priority should be given – pursuant to instructions from Leaders and Ministers – to funding capacity building activities with special emphasis on developing economies, in accordance with the following rankings.

The criteria will be used for ranking all of APEC's funded projects. The criteria are compatible with the "Report on Prioritisation of Capacity Building in Economic Committee of APEC" - 2009/CSOM/004. The criteria will be reviewed at the end of 2010.

Rank 1: Projects essential to the furtherance of the goal of economic integration via free and open trade and investment

This includes:

Regional Economic Integration

- Promoting greater convergences among economies in key areas of APEC's REI agenda, including services, digital economy, investment, trade facilitation, rules of origin and standards/technical barriers to trade
- Exploring building blocks towards a Free Trade Area of the Asia-Pacific
- o Services
- o Investment
- Trade facilitation
- Rules of origin
- Supply chain connectivity
- Intellectual property rights
- o Information networks and data privacy

Addressing the Social Dimension of Globalization (Inclusive Growth)

 Activities which contribute to Inclusive Growth – including financial inclusion, SME development, employment creation, skills upgrading of workers, empowering women and the development of incentive-compatible social safety net programmes.

Safeguarding the Quality of Life through Sustainable Growth

- o Implementation of the EGS Work Programme
- o Work on energy efficiency and renewable energy
- Work on climate change mitigation and adaptation, including sustainable forest management and rehabilitation

Structural Reform

- o Implementation of LAISR and development of a post-LAISR agenda for APEC
- o Implementation of the Ease of Doing Business Action Plan
- Actions that support implementation of G-20 framework for strong, sustainable and balanced growth
- Strengthening financial markets (including financial regulatory systems and capital market development)

Human Security

- o Food security
- o Food/product safety
- Emergency preparedness

60	2010 APEC SOM REPORT ON ECONOMIC AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION - ANNEX 3			
Rank 2:	Other projects that support the furtherance of the goal of economic integration via free and open trade and investment			
For exar	nple:			
Reg	Regional Economic Integration			
0	Other REI issues not listed in Rank 1			
Ado	lressing the Social Dimension of Globalization (Inclusive Growth)			
0	Activities which contribute to inclusive growth in the longer-term, including education			
Saf	eguarding the Quality of Life through Sustainable Growth			
0	Activities which support the implementation of the 2007 Leaders Declaration on Energy Security and Clean Development including the APEC Peer Review on Energy Efficiency and the EWG Energy Security Initiative			
0	Other activities to assist economies in facing the challenges of climate change (mitigation and adaptation)			
Stru	actural Reform			
0	Labor market reforms			
Hu	nan Security			
0	Initiatives which support trade recovery (e.g. the APEC Trade Recovery Programme)			
0	Prevention and control of emerging infectious diseases			
0	Counter terrorism initiatives/anti-money laundering activities			
0	Fighting corruption			
Rank 3:	Other priorities identified by Leaders and Ministers not closely linked to the furtherance of the goal of economic integration via free and open trade and investment			
For exar	nple:			
0	Improving governance and transparency			
0	Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)			
0	Implementation of some recommendations of, and some lead-up activities to, sectoral ministerial meetings			
Rank 4:	Lower priority cooperation			
For exar	nple:			
0	Resolution of an issue mainly of interest to a few economies but where the solution may have broader applicability			

Cross-cutting issues: All projects should maximise: developing human capital; building linkage between APEC economies; gender equality; engagement of other APEC fora, ABAC, the private sector and other multilateral organisations; multi-year capacity building opportunities; and the spectrum of capacity building models and activities, although the extent to which projects incorporate these methodologies will not affect their priority rankings.

Prioritisation within a rank: In the event that there are more project proposals than available funding for initiatives within a particular rank, projects will be prioritized in accordance to the degree to which they contribute to its rank's objective (and therefore to the APEC's overall objective of the furtherance of the goal of economic integration via free and open trade and investment).

Annex 4

REVISED GUIDELINES FOR LEAD SHEPHERD/CHAIR AND DEPUTY LEAD SHEPHERD/CHAIR OF APEC WORKING GROUPS AND SOM TASK FORCES

(Excluding the Budget Management Committee (BMC); the Committee of Trade and Investment (CTI) and its sub-fora; the Economic Committee (EC) and its sub-fora; the SOM Steering Committee for Economic and Technical Cooperation (SCE) and Finance Ministers Process (FMP)).

Basic principles and objectives of the Guidelines

- 1. These guidelines are consistent with APEC principles of voluntarism and consensus building, as any member economy may express its interest and be selected as Lead Shepherd/Chair or Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair of a working group or other APEC fora.
- 2. These guidelines aim to enhance wider participation, shared leadership, and accountability; to ensure that more members embrace the role and responsibility of Lead Shepherd/Chair or Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair; and to promote greater synergy in the activities of working groups and other APEC fora.
- 3. APEC principles applying to chairing APEC Ministerial and Leaders' Meetings are not impacted by these Guidelines.

Guidelines

- 1. Each APEC working group and other APEC fora will select a Lead Shepherd/Chair, who will have a minimum two-year term (two calendar years). Exceptions to this rule require approval by the groups concerned as well as the SCE.¹
- 2. One or more Deputy Lead Shepherds/Chairs will be selected by the working groups and other APEC fora to assist the Lead Shepherd/Chair. The Deputy Lead Shepherd(s)/Chair(s) will be selected from a different APEC economy than the Lead Shepherd/Chair, and their tenure will be staggered by one year with that of the Lead Shepherd/Chair, where possible. The resulting one-year "overlap" period is designed to ensure continuity of leadership and to allow new incoming Lead Shepherds/Chairs to benefit from the advice of an experienced Deputy. Exceptions to this rule, due to specific group circumstances, will be granted on a case-by-case basis and will require approval by the groups concerned as well as the SCE.
- 3. In the event that the Lead Shepherd/Chair could not continue with his/her duties, the Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair will assume the position of the Lead Shepherd/Chair for the remainder of the calendar year, or until a new Chair is nominated.
- 4. If the Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair is unable to continue with his/her duties, a new Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair would be selected.

¹ Suggestions have been made that this be a "minimum of two years" to enable flexibility for fora with longer term chairs.

- 5. At the last meeting—within the time frame of the two-year term—a new Lead Shepherd/Chair and a new Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair will be selected—on a rotation or volunteer basis—by each APEC working group and/or APEC fora.
- 6. A Lead Shepherd/Chair should not normally serve for more than two consecutive twoyear terms as Lead Shepherd/Chair of a working group and other APEC fora.
- 7. None of the above mentioned procedures prevent a particular working group and other APEC fora—on the grounds of their own reality—from establishing an advisory committee to ensure assistance, support and continuity in the tasks and responsibilities allocated to the Lead Shepherd/Chair or Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair of a working group and other APEC fora.

The duties of the Lead Shepherd/Chair of a working group and/or other APEC fora:

- Coordinate the schedule and chair meetings as well as prepare reports of the meetings.
- Foster constructive and active dialogue at sub-fora meetings.
- Lead the implementation of the action program and other activities to fulfill instructions given by APEC Leaders, Ministers and Senior Officials and report to Senior Officials on the development of these issues.
- Coordinate the development of a medium-term strategic plan aligned with the organization's overall objectives.
- Ensure the timely submission of annual fora workplans to the first SCE meeting of each year.
- Attend the annual SCE Committee-on-the-Whole (COW) meeting, held on the margins of the first SCE meeting of each year, to update the SCE on fora activities and ensure that these are in line with APEC priorities.
- Oversee the development of activities ensuring that the fora's work is responding to Leaders' and Ministers' priorities.
- Liaise with the APEC Secretariat, other APEC fora and international organisations to enhance the quality of activities, including project proposals with well-defined outcomes, and track the progress of project implementation.
- Invite ABAC or other relevant non-governmental actor(s) to contribute to the fora's plenary meeting agenda and activities (e.g., seminars, workshops).
- Oversee the prioritization/ranking of the fora's project proposal concept notes using the APEC-wide funding criteria in advance of the deadline for each project approval session.
- Once for projects are approved, ensure that the project overseer works with the APEC Secretariat Communications team to provide a short statement on the activity to be published on the APEC website, if appropriate.
- As major project milestones or deliverables are completed (e.g. workshops, reports, etc), ensure that the project overseer provides a statement (e.g. press release, article, etc.) on the outcomes of the activity to be published on the APEC website and that he/she works with the APEC Secretariat Communications team, as well as local and international media, to promote and encourage media coverage of APEC project-related activities.

- Once projects are fully completed, ensure that project overseers work with the APEC Secretariat Communications team to provide a write-up of the project's accomplishments and planned follow-up.
- Ensure that mandatory monitoring and final completion and evaluation reports on relevant APEC-funded projects are submitted by Project Overseers and that the relevant program director in the APEC Secretariat provides such reports in a timely manner to the BMC.
- Act as the spokesperson and key advocate for the relevant working group or APEC fora, actively working to build synergies with other APEC fora, as well as relevant international organizations, and actively promoting the practical efforts that fora are undertaking to advance APEC priorities.
- Ensure that the forum website, as appropriate, is linked to the APEC Secretariat website and remains up-to-date, providing a current reflection of the forum's priorities and activities.

The duties of the Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair will be to assist the Lead Shepherd/Chair to fulfill the mandate and the activities of the working group or other APEC fora. Further information to assist Lead Shepherds and Chairs in hosting meetings can be found in the *Guidebook on APEC Procedures and Practices; Guidelines for Hosting APEC meetings; and the Guidebook on APEC projects.*

The level of assistance that the Chair/Lead Shepherd can expect from the APEC Secretariat's Program Director

The Program Directors (PDs) are officials seconded by member economies to work for the APEC Secretariat for a period of normally three years. They are usually officials with different backgrounds and experience and may not possess technical expertise in the particular subject area of the forum. As their responsibilities may cover more than one forum or assignment, PDs are unable to fully support the Chair/Lead Shepherd as a full-time assistant. It is desirable that the Chair/Lead Shepherd seek his/her own staff for personal assistance and utilise the PD in a way that best serves the group.

While the Chair/Lead Shepherd of an APEC forum is responsible for coordination and overseeing of the activities conducted by that forum, the PD can assist the Chair/Lead Shepherd in the following areas:

- providing a link to the APEC Secretariat and other fora;
- conveying results of the discussions held at the SCE, SOM, AMM and AELM;
- providing advice as to how the sub-fora could incorporate leaders' and ministerial directives into their work plans;
- maintaining the relevant public website and APEC Collaboration System (ACS) site for the group;
- maintaining an up-to-date contact list of group members;
- preparing the draft meeting agenda, if requested;
- coordinating with members of the group;
- conveying messages from the Chair/Lead Shepherd with regard to the meeting;
- taking minutes and/or preparation of the summary record of the meeting, if required;

- liaising with the APEC Secretariat communications team to arrange media outreach and coverage of sub-fora meetings/events and projects;
- following-up on the agreed decisions by the group during the inter-sessional period;
- supporting the Chair/Lead Shepherd during each project approval session with prioritizing/ranking the group's project proposal concept notes and submitting these rankings to the overseeing Committee in advance of the specified deadline;
- supporting implementation and reporting on status and completion of APEC projects; and
- ensuring final completion reports with outcomes of APEC-funded projects are completed within specified guidelines (2 months post-activity) and submitted to the BMC for review.

Maintenance of Public Website and ACS Site for the group

All APEC fora will have their webpage posted in the APEC Secretariat's website for public access. The group's ACS site serves as an online space for members to undertake intersessional work, collaboration, discussion and information-sharing. The PD will be responsible for maintaining and updating the contents of both sites.

The APEC Secretariat's website also contains the Events Calendar which provided information on APEC-related events throughout the year. The PD can assist in publicising events or meetings when information is available from the Chair/Lead Shepherd or organiser of the events.

PD's support for meetings

The role of the PD is to facilitate the meeting.

If requested, the PD can assist in the preparation of drafting the meeting agenda based on the outcomes of the previous meeting. Once this is approved by the Chair/Lead Shepherd, the PD can circulate the draft to all members for comment and keep it up to date. It is desirable that the draft agenda be circulated at least four weeks before the meeting.

PDs also provide information on the latest developments in APEC; and advise on procedural matters regarding participation in APEC meetings, participation of APEC officials in non-APEC meetings, submission of meeting documents and implementation of APEC projects. PDs can serve as a resource for member questions or to clarify issues regarding procedures and practices in APEC relating to project implementation, the application for different sources of APEC funding (Operational Account, TILF Fund, APEC Support Fund), etc.

At the first annual meeting of the forum, it is customary that the PD will table a report on APEC developments so that the group is informed of the current theme, sub-themes, priorities and major decisions adopted by Leaders, Ministers and Senior Officials since their last meetings. In addition, the PD may brief the group on other issues of interest to the forum such as SOM and relevant committee-level instructions, project deadlines and any other important but yet unresolved issue within the group for consideration.

The documentation process is vital to ensure that all meeting documents are complete and kept by the APEC Secretariat Library for dissemination to members and the public. The PD will help the host and the Chair/Lead Shepherd to properly prepare all documents according to the Meeting Documents Guidelines. Once the meeting is completed, the PD will need to collect all meeting documents and submit to the APEC Secretariat Library.

Coordination with members of the group

As the issues discussed in APEC are often cross-cutting or may have wide implications to other fora, PDs will assist in providing information about those cross-cutting or overlapping issues related to the group. PDs can also liaise with other fora, if requested, on behalf of the Chair/Lead Shepherd. This usually can be done through internal coordination with other PDs in the Secretariat or directly with the Chair/Lead Shepherd of the other fora.

If the forum wishes to invite non-APEC members to their meeting, it should consult the PD who will advise the forum on the correct procedure based on the most current version of the *Consolidated Guidelines on Non-Member Participation in APEC Activities*.

Conveying messages from the Chair/Lead Shepherd with regard to the meeting

Once agreement has been made to host a meeting, the host economy is expected to move as quickly as possible to decide on the location and exact meeting dates and inform all appropriate APEC contact points. The PD can help disseminate information to all APEC contact points, and advise the host economy and the Chair/Lead Shepherd on suitable arrangements. Every effort should be made to hold meetings in conjunction with one of the SOMs, in order to enable the broadest possible participation, coordination of efforts with other sub-fora, and wider understanding of other sub-fora efforts. If the meeting is not held in conjunction with the SOM and Related Meetings, it is advisable that an Administrative Circular be prepared by the host in coordination such as the responsible host economy contact points, meeting venue, registration/accreditation, arrival/entry formalities, accommodation arrangements, delegates' facilities, document reproduction and distribution procedures, and other useful information. It is preferable to have the Administrative Circular available at least six weeks before the meeting.

If the forum meeting is held on the margins of SOM, the PD will liaise with the Host Economy Representative (HER) of the APEC Secretariat who will act as the coordinator with the Task Force or Organizing Committee of the host and provide necessary information including the number of participants, meeting room arrangements, necessary equipment needed to conduct the meeting and the preferred meeting schedule as requested by their fora.

The Secretariat has produced two documents, namely the *Guidebook on APEC Procedures and Practices* and the *Guidelines for Hosting APEC Meetings* which can help the host in preparing the APEC meetings. These can be requested from the PD.

Taking minutes or preparing the summary record of the meeting

As PDs may not be an expert on technical issues discussed in the group, it is advisable that the Chair/Lead Shepherd reach a common understanding with the PD on the level of support in taking minutes or preparing the summary record of the meeting.

As the forum/working group may be required to present its report to higher bodies (e.g. CTI, SCE, and SOM), PDs can assist the Chair/Lead Shepherd in preparing a Fora Report to the relevant committee. The template, procedure and deadline of submission of fora reports are usually advised by the relevant Committee's Coordinator.

Following-up the agreed decisions by the group during the inter-sessional period

After the meeting is completed, the PD can assist the Chair/Lead Shepherd to develop a list of inter-sessional work items and circulate to members through the ACS site or e-mail or for follow-up. The list shall contain items to be followed up, specific actions required, responsible

economy or entity and deadlines. Such a list will help the group to keep track of the agreed follow-up actions or activities. The PD can help to regularly update and follow up with or remind the relevant economy to ensure the completion of the agreed work plan.

The PD can also assist the Chair/Lead Shepherd to contact other fora for follow-up or joint activities, if requested. Coordination with other fora can be done through contacting the relevant fora directly and/or through internal coordination within the Secretariat.

Supporting implementation of APEC projects

The PD will be responsible for supporting Project Proponents and Project Overseers (POs) through all stages of the project approval and implementation process, from the initial stage of drafting the project concept note; through the sub-fora, Committee, and Principal Decision-Maker ranking process; and finally through the final quality assessment of full project proposals. PDs should remind POs of the necessary requirements e.g., financial rules as spelled out in the *Guidebook on APEC Projects* during the implementation, and collect the evaluation report after the project is completed. Throughout the complete project cycle – from development and approval to implementation to monitoring and evaluation – POs are encouraged to consult with PDs in a collaborative manner to ensure their projects adhere to APEC's quality standards and financial guidelines.

If projects are submitted for OA and ASF funding, the PD can assist with the guidelines and procedures to complete the Quality Assessment Framework (QAF). Full details about how to undertake the Quality Assessment Framework can be seen in the *Guidebook on APEC Project*. Alternatively, the group may encourage members to establish a Small Group on Evaluation to facilitate an effective evaluation process.

In the process of implementation, e.g., the arrangement of APEC-funded travelers to the meeting or workshop, the PD and his/her Program Assistant (PA) will assist in responding to requests from POs and APEC-funded travellers with regard to authorisation for funding and reimbursement claims.

In principle, the PD does not attend any APEC-funded or self-funded meeting organised by the PO. However, an exception may be made if a request is made in writing by the PO to the Executive Director to have a representative from the Secretariat participate in the meeting. Preferably, such a request should be made with the understanding that the PO or organiser is ready to provide funding for the participation of the Secretariat's representative. In any case, it is at the discretion of the Executive Director of the APEC Secretariat to decide on a case-by-case basis whether to send a representative.

If the project is going to produce a publication (e.g. final reports, proceedings of dialogues, workshops) or set-up a website, the PD, with the assistance of the Director of Communications and team members, can advise on APEC publication and website guidelines, including the use of APEC logo and its copyrights, and APEC style and nomenclature.

Dissemination of output from APEC projects can be useful and newsworthy. The PD, with the assistance of the Director of Communications, can assist the PO in preparing media release that can be of interest to the group or public. The PD, with the assistance of the News Manager can also assist the Chair/Lead Shepherd to arrange a briefing or interview with the media on the work done by the group or forum after the meeting.

Annex 5

INDEPENDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE ECOTECH IMPLEMENTATION OF APEC WORKING GROUPS AND SOM TASKFORCES:

COUNTER-TERRORISM TASK FORCE (CTTF)

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)	
RECOMMENDATIONS TO SCE					
Recommendation to SCE1. Outlining its key expectations and requirements for the coming year in a generic letter to each Chair/Lead Shepherd inviting them to attend the SCE-COW session at the first SOM as an opportunity for collegial discussion leading to consensus on any final adjustments	 <u>Member economies</u> Support the recommendation; ways to improve attendance and the efficiency of SCE-COW be assessed (including the feasibility of holding of all initial working group/task force meetings at the margins of SOM1). We strongly agree with this recommendation and would like to see it implemented if this is not the practice already. <u>APEC Secretariat</u> All Chairs/Lead Shepherds of WG/TF are invited to annual SCE-COW. The attendance level at this meeting has not been very high over the past few years. The SCE Chair regularly writes to Chairs/lead shepherds: before SCE-COW to invite them to the meeting and outlines key issues for discussion at the meeting; after each meeting to inform them of the new development and key decisions of SCE/SOM relevant to their work. 	SCE to take into consideration the recommendation in its work to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of SCE- COW.	SCE3 2010	Yes	
Recommendation to SCE2. In consultation with the CTI, identifying the CTI and SCE sub-fora with the lead responsibility for each cross-cutting initiative	 <u>Member economies</u> Support the recommendation to leverage cross- linkages amongst the "human security" agenda in APEC, and examine further ways to increase 	SCE to discuss this recommendation at SCE3 in conjunction	CSOM 2010	Yes	
Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)	
---	---	---	---	---	
which has a human security dimension; and requiring these responsibilities to be reflected in their Terms of Reference and Work Plans.	 collaboration in this field (cross-fora strategic plans + joint "human security" sessions). We agree. After consulting with various agencies in our economy that are involved in APEC's fora dealing with cross-cutting human security issues, the common theme to emerge in feedback that we received was that there was a concern that the CTTF was actually in danger of duplicating work already being done elsewhere and the need to minimise duplication of effort across APEC. Clearly identifying which fora has the lead on certain counter terrorism initiatives and work streams and reflecting this in their terms of reference would go some way to alleviating this concern. 	with the discussion on HWG independent assessment recommendations.			
Recommendation to SCE3. Through its Friends of the Chair Group on Accountability and Communications, identifying an efficient way to convert relevant findings and recommendations contained in independent assessment reports into useful guidance for sub-fora to follow in strengthening their management frameworks	 <u>Member economies</u> This is a useful suggestion and we believe that this is already happening through the revision of guidelines for lead shepherds that the FOTC is currently working on. Welcome this recommendation. 	No action required – SCE already implemented through the revision of Guidelines for chairs/lead shepherds.		Yes	
Recommendation to SCE4. Notifying the CTTF on any high-level policy or management issues that it should address in preparing the case for a fourth renewal of its mandate in 2010	 <u>Member economies</u> We feel that the CTTF should try and address most, if not all, of the management-related recommendations in the report for the CTTF's consideration (i.e. CTTF2 through to CTTF24). The three most important being CTTF3 (Strengthening/tightening the Group's Terms of Reference) CTTF23 (development of a medium term strategy) and CTTF24 (appointment of a 	No action required.		Yes	

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
	Vice Chair to support the Chair).			
	• Welcome this recommendation.			
	• It is the responsibility of sub-fora to justify their existence			
Recommendation to SCE5.				Yes
Through its Friends of the Chair Group on Accountability and Communications, (a) identifying the extent to which the CTTF, other small sub-fora and the Experts Groups of larger sub-fora are presently operating in the human security field with similar or partially overlapping mandates; (b) assessing the practicality of consolidating their medium term strategies into a single document; and (c) actively encouraging these sub- fora and their experts groups to find affordable opportunities for increased cross- participation and collaboration	 Member economies Although we agree that the feasibility of having an APEC-wide strategy or "single document" for Counter Terrorism (e.g. by studying the existing medium term strategies of human security related fora) should be investigated we wonder whether the SCE FOTC is the right body to do this. We think that one of the conditions for the renewal of the CTTF's mandate this year should be that it once again refocuses on its coordinating role for APEC's CT efforts and that the CTTF is tasked with consulting/working with other relevant fora in developing an APEC-wide counter terrorism strategy. The findings of recommendation SCE2 should feed into this process and this APEC-wide strategy should clearly identify which APEC fora has the lead in implementing various aspects of the strategy. The APEC New Strategy for Structural Reform (ANSSR) is a good example of an APEC-wide strategy (for Structural Reform) that clearly articulates which part of the APEC structure (e.g. the Economic Committee or the HRDWG) is responsible for implementing various aspects of the strategy. Support this recommendation to leverage cross- linkages amongst the "human security" agenda in APEC, and examine further ways to increase collaboration in this field (cross-fora strategic plans + joint "human security" sessions). 	SCE to take note of this recommendation in its effort to improve coordination among fora and during discussion of the HWG independent assessment recommendations.	SCE3 2010	

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)		
	RECOMMENDATIONS TO CTTF					
Recommendation to CTTF 1. Contacting the relevant ABAC Liaison Representative in order to explore opportunities for collaborating on projects and activities of mutual interest.	<u>APEC Secretariat</u> ABAC has no Liaison Representative for CTTF. ABAC has expressed view that due to its limited resources, it will focus only on area of high priority.	CTTF to consider ways to better engage ABAC and private sector.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes		
Recommendation to CTTF 2. Transforming the nine suggestions to increase the efficiency of CTTF meetings into concrete action and to include relevant actions in the 2011 Work Plan	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes		
Recommendation to CTTF 3. Recognizing that the lead for many counter-terrorism/secure trade issues are broadly dispersed among other sub-fora, strengthening the Terms of Reference (TOR) through the inclusion of more pro-active goals and objectives as an aspect of preparing its mandate renewal submission to the SOM	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes		
Recommendation to CTTF 4. Expanding the Management Group on a priority basis to provide the planning capacity necessary to ensure that, when seeking to extend the Task Force's mandate, there is an effective intersessional mechanism in place to (a) fully report progress in	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes		

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
implementing all elements of the 2010 work plan; and (b) strengthen the work planning process so as to position the 2011 work plan as the main work instrument guiding the CTTF throughout the year in its meetings, intersessional work on identifying potential counter- terrorism gaps and initiatives, and collaborative efforts with other sub-fora and non-APEC organizations .				
Recommendation to CTTF 5. Including the planning and implementation of the annual work plan as a standing item on all CTTF meeting Agendas	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 6. Tabling an updated Annual Report on progress in implementing the annual work plan at the next CTTF meeting and including it in the APEC Meeting Document Database.	<u>APEC Secretariat</u> CTTF's Fora report provides updates on the group's implementation of its annual workplan. The CTTF report will be included in the 2010 SCE Fora Report which will be considered at SCE3. Once 2010 SCE Fora is endorsed, the report will be available on the APEC Meeting Document Database.	No action required.		Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 7. Introducing an Ongoing Actions List at the next meeting as an efficient way of keeping track of commitments made by Economies and the management group from one meeting to the next. Thereafter, it could be appended to the Summary Record following each	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
meeting and to the agenda preceding each meeting.				
Recommendation to CTTF 8. In consultation with the Communications and Public Affairs Unit in the Secretariat and the CTTF Program Director, reviewing the contents of the CTTF pages on the APEC website and in the APEC Collaboration System, and devising maintenance protocols in order to maximize their usefulness as reference tools for all CTTF stakeholders	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 9. Establishing an agenda planning protocol consistent with the guidelines for Chairs of SOM Task Forces referenced in Annex G of the APEC Senior Officials' 2007 Report on ECOTECH	<u>APEC Secretariat</u> SCE has endorsed the revised Guidelines for Chairs/Lead shepherds at SCE2. The revised guideline has been circulated to all SCE fora for comments. No comment has been received by the deadline – meaning all fora agree with the revisions.	CTTF to study the revised Guidelines for Chairs/Lead shepherds and take necessary actions to implement the revised Guidelines.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 10. Further to the above recommendation, restructuring the annotated agenda so that it more closely aligns with the format of the annual Work Plan and makes provision for new or emerging developments	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 11. Discontinuing the practice of providing a		CTTF to consider the	CTTF to report	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
written report and to use the annotated agendas, the Chair's opening remarks and the Summary Record as an efficient way of ensuring that intersessional activities are addressed during the meeting and subsequently reported.		recommendation and take steps to improve the group' operation.	progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	
Recommendation to CTTF 12. Encouraging each member Economy to reduce the size of its contact list in the CTTF Collaboration Site (e.g. to two or three contacts including the designated Head of Delegation) and update it on a regular basis	APEC Secretariat It is up to member economies to decide who should be in the CTTF Contact list.	CTTF to update its contact list on a regular basis. CTTF members are encouraged to identify their head of delegation for the group CTTF, and try to limit their nominated points of contact to a reasonable number.		Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 13. Including the Summary Report as a standing item at the first CTTF meeting in each year, as a basis for work planning and engaging in expert-level dialogue with relevant sub-fora	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 14. Providing a link to the Summary Report from the CTTF web page		CTTF to consider this recommendation.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation to CTTF 15. Establishing clear guidance on which outputs become APEC publications and which ones remain in the APEC Meeting Document Database	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 16. Working with the Communications and Public Affairs Unit to promote published documents to the fullest extent possible	APEC Secretariat The revised Guidelines for Chairs/Lead Shepherds already address this issue.	CTTF to study the revised Guidelines for Chairs/Lead shepherds and take necessary actions to implement the revised Guidelines.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 17. Consistent with guidelines issued by the BMC, establishing a protocol to ensure the timely preparation and submission of Completion Reports and invoices on completed projects by Project Overseers	APEC Secretariat BMC has agreed to a new approach to reporting for APEC funded projects with two elements including compulsory six-monthly Monitoring Report and compulsory Completion Report. The system stipulates that the Fora will be prevented from submitting any new Concept Notes until outstanding reports are submitted.	No action required – CTTF needs to follows strictly the new guidelines issued by BMC.		Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 18. Deferring the planning of the STAR VIII conference until the submission of a Completion Report by the Project Overseer and a discussion of the recommended measures and initiatives from the STAR VII conference has taken place at a CTTF meeting	APEC Secretariat Project Overseers for STAR Conferences are different people coming from different economies.	CTTF to take note of this recommendation and to ensure that clear follow-up steps are taken with regards to STAR Conference.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 19. Seeking to have a representative brief the next meetings of the TPTWG Maritime and Aviation Security Experts Sub-	<u>Member economies</u> Encourage the CTTF to invite representatives from a broader range of sub-for a.	CTTF to implement this recommendation and consider inviting	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Groups on CTTF transportation security initiatives and to explore opportunities for greater collaboration using the Summary Report of Counter-Terrorism Capacity Building Needs of APEC Economies as a main reference point		representatives from other relevant fora.		
Recommendation to CTTF 20. Appending the specific duties of each member of the management group (including the Office of the Chair) to the TOR	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 21. Establishing a formal contact point from among the member economies to provide concise written reports on relevant proceedings of each key international organization with a counter-terrorism mandate.	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 22. Compiling the suggestions contained in the completed questionnaires for discussion and identification of possible future actions at the next CTTF meeting	Agreed.	CTTF to implement this recommendation	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 23. Developing a medium-term strategy covering a planning horizon of three years (the current year plus the next two) as a foundation for the annual	<u>APEC Secretariat</u> This recommendation has already been addressed as all SCE fora (including CTTF) have been requested to develop their medium-term workplans and submit the workplans to SCE3 for consideration.	No action required.		Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or CTTF	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or CTTF	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
work planning exercise	CTTF has already submitted its medium-term workplan to SCE.			
Recommendation to CTTF 24. Appointing a Vice-Chair as soon as possible so that his/her term of office overlaps with that of the Chair		CTTF to consider the recommendation and to ensure that the revised guidelines for Chairs/lead shepherds are followed.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to CTTF 25. Holding a third meeting in 2010 with one day dedicated to strengthening the management framework.		CTTF to consider this recommendation in its efforts to strengthen the management framework.	CTTF to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

INDEPENDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE ECOTECH IMPLEMENTATION OF APEC WORKING GROUPS AND SOM TASKFORCES:

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HRDWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation 1. <i>Agree</i> that Economies should be encouraged to put forward women as well as men based on merit delegates for leadership positions in the HRDWG, including as Heads of delegations, Network Coordinators, and Lead Shepherd.	Support.	HRDWG to implement this recommendation.	HRDWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation 2. Agree that key selection criteria for the position of Lead Shepherd should be commitment to an inclusive style of working, the ability to chair a large consensus-based grouping, and leadership skills. The LS should promote education, labour and social protection capacity-building equally regardless of their expertise. The LS position should be elected at the end of the first year of the existing LS term and take office at the end of the incumbent LS two year term.	Agree in principle with the recommendation but notes that it is not always fully achievable and recommends some flexibility.	HRDWG to further consider this recommendation and decide the succession process of the Lead Shepherd in its next meeting in 2010.	HRDWG to report decision to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation 3 . <i>Agree</i> that Deputy Lead Shepherd and Deputy Network Coordinator be formalised as positions with role descriptions create in order to build the strategic and consensual	There is merit in the position of Deputy Lead Shepherd. However, it is up to HRDWG to have further discussion and make decision.	HRDWG to further consider this recommendation together with its discussion of Lead Shepherd's succession process.	HRDWG to report decision to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT WORKING GROUP (HRDWG)

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HRDWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
leadership capacity of the LS and Network Coordinators. These "deputy" positions should preferably be filled by delegates from a different APEC economy to the LS, and be set on a different term to ensure continuity of leadership across the LS office holders. The Deputy LS may or may not succeed the Lead Shepherd.	Deputy Network Coordinator is not essential.			
Recommendation 4 . <i>Agree</i> that the core work programme of the CBN be reallocated among the LSPN and EDNET, and other relevant groups within APEC such as the SMEWG, the EC, and the CTI with the goal of reinvigorating the APEC- wide strategic focus on capacity building for individuals, government and enterprises and building on the collaborative approach of the CBN within the HRDWG.	Give support to streamline the HRDWG structure and strengthen internal coordination by merging CBN with EDNET and LSPN. However, some other member economies insist on maintaining the CBN to promote the important issue of capacity building. And also HRDWG has indicated its disagreement on this recommendation.	No action required.	N. A.	Yes.
Recommendation 5. <i>Agree</i> that the LS and Network Coordinators be tasked with maintaining and building the collaboration among government, non- government, and private sector organisations in Network activities.	Agree.	HRDWG to implement this recommendation.	HRDWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation 6 <i>Agree</i> that EDNET redefine its mandate and core objectives consistent with APEC Leader and Ministerial priorities and emphasising the linkages between capacity-building for regional trade and economic cooperation as well as education/training, and the activities that follow from these.	Agree to HRDWG's greater alignment with APEC strategic goals of trade and investment. But it should be careful to redraft the core objectives of HRDWG. The annual HRDWG workplan needs to clearly indicate how EDNET priorities directly and indirectly contribute to free and open trade and investment and also to other Leaders' priorities	HRDWG to implement this recommendation.	HRDWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HRDWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
	including —inclusive, knowledge-based, sustainable and balanced growth. It was not agreed to limit HRDWG's mandate to economic aspects, such as education trade and services, as this would not allow HRDWG to fully respond to APEC Leaders' instructions.			
	EDNET's mandate and core objectives are already consistent with Leader and Ministerial priorities to some extent.			
Recommendation 7 <i>Agree</i> that all Networks in the HRDWG adopt multi-year planning and complete the template submitted by the current LS.	Agree.	HRDWG to implement this recommendation.	HRDWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation 8 <i>Agree</i> that HRDWG project overseers seek help from Project Management Unit in preparing project evaluation reports after the completion of a project. These reports can be used to derive lessons and guide future project proposals relevant to APEC trade and investment goals. The SCE should consider supporting a third party external evaluation process for all ECOTECH projects to ensure transparency, to direct future funding, and to maximize the policy outcomes from projects.	BMC is considering a new monitoring and completion reporting framework.	Secretariat to brief APEC fora, including HRDWG, on the new monitoring and completion reporting framework.	Secretariat to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation 9 <i>Agree</i> that HRDWG annual meetings be primarily focused on <i>policy discussion</i> around	Agree. The HRDWG meeting in Hiroshima has already reflected this recommendation by focusing on policy discussions.	HRDWG to implement this recommendation when planning and designing the future HRDWG meetings.	HRDWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HRDWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
a few key Working Group-wide priorities and strategic planning.				
Recommendation 10 <i>Agree</i> that an HRDWG paper should be produced identifying the human resources development activities of all relevant multilateral organisations, highlighting the synergies among these organizations and APEC activities, and distinguishing the comparative advantages of APEC HRDWG activities.	Agree in principle with identifying the comparative advantages and synergies with other multilateral organizations. HRDWG needs to further discuss how to implement.	HRDWG to further discuss this recommendation out of session.	HRDWG to report decision to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation 11 Agree that the SCE should strengthen coordination on labour and gender "inclusive growth" goals between the HRDWG and other APEC fora, especially the Gender Focal Point Network and the Small and Medium Enterprises Working Group. This coordination could take the form of policy dialogues on the achievement of inclusive growth and project collaboration and co-sponsorship on projects following from this dialogue	Agree.	HRDWG to implement this recommendation.	HRDWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation 12 <i>Agree</i> that SCE Chair formally discuss the application of the SCE criteria for project funding with the Lead Shepherd Advisory Committee of the HRDWG.	Relevant work has been done with significant developments and progress in this area.	No action required.	N. A.	Yes.
Recommendation 13 Agree that the APEC Secretariat and Programme Director communicate in advance	APEC fora have been informed of the new arrangement for project approval process. Final project evaluation reporting framework is under development.	The Secretariat to keep HRDWG informed of project management reform measure upon BMC	Secretariat to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HRDWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
with HRDWG members about the deadlines and process for the evaluation of project proposals and for the submission of final project evaluation reports by electronic		decision.		
communication or teleconference.				

INDEPENDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE ECOTECH IMPLEMENTATION OF APEC WORKING GROUPS AND SOM TASKFORCES:

HEALTH WORKING GROUP (HWG)

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or HWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
	RECOMMENDATIONS TO SC	Е		
Recommendation to SCE1. Initiate a project to develop performance measures and guidelines for routine assessment of the effectiveness of APEC fora in delivering substantive outcomes and impacts on member economies and across the region as a result of their activities.		SCE to take note this recommendation when developing a plan on implementation of recommendation 5 of the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities.		Yes
Recommendation to SCE2. Develop more appropriate funding arrangements that support long term strategic projects instead of discrete, time-limited projects.		No action required – this issue has already been addressed by BMC.		Yes
Recommendation to SCE3. In consultation with the HWG and other subfora, the SCE and BMC continue to identify ways to improve secretarial and technical support, to ensure that changes to processes are supportive of APEC goals, and will enable them to respond to changes in APEC processes in an efficient manner.		No action required – the issue has already been addressed in the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities and by BMC.		Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or HWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation to SCE4. Strengthen formal reporting processes across all APEC fora on current and proposed projects and activities.		No action required – the issue has already been addressed by BMC decision regarding completion and progress report of projects.		Yes
Recommendation to SCE5. Undertake a comprehensive consultation process to assess the merits of an amalgamation or restructure of the HWG and the LSIF, taking into account the benefits and challenges identified by this assessment, to address existing efficiency issues and the current duplication of mandates.		SCE to take note of this recommendation when developing a plan on implementation of recommendation 5 of the Framework to Guide ECOTECH Activities.		Yes
	RECOMMENDATIONS TO HW	′G		
Recommendation to HWG 1. Foster and encourage greater attendance and participation of observers and stakeholders as guests at meetings to improve collaboration and integration of HWG activities.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 2. Progress the proposed review of priority areas to ensure that the directions of the HWG are strategic and responsive to current health challenges experienced by the region.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 3. Develop project proposals that specifically address the new output objective identified in the 2010 Annual Work Plan.		HWG to take note of this recommendation in developing project for the year 2011.	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or HWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation to HWG 4. Consider suggestion to develop a public health exchange program between APEC economies that build on APEC goals.		HWG to consider the recommendation in developing its 2011 workplan and project proposals.	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 5. Consider the QAF criteria and identified areas of weakness when developing project proposals to strengthen future projects and their alignment with APEC's priorities and the Bogor Goals.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 6. Increase use of alternate funding sources to decrease reliance on APEC project funding.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 7. Ensure that final reports are completed and approved for publication for each project in a timely manner.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 8. Ensure that status of projects is updated regularly on the APEC project database and final reports are published on the website in a timely manner.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 9. Ensure all relevant references to the HWG are updated on the APEC website to reflect its current format as a working group and not task force and that all relevant documents are uploaded to the website in a timely manner.		HWG in cooperation with the APEC Secretariat to implement this recommendation.	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or HWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation to HWG 10. Publish project reports on HWG website as well as APEC site to maximize public access and promotion of HWG activities.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 11. Ensure all work plans and other relevant documents are published on the website in a timely manner and that all links to corresponding documents are operational.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 12. All future project reports should contain a summary of the outcomes of the project and, if relevant, a list of recommendations for future consideration.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 13. Include in annual work plans, a set of targets and objectives which can be used to measure the effectiveness of activities in contributing to the MTWP.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 14. Develop longer term, more collaborative and strategically cross cutting projects that address multiple barriers to development.		HWG to consider this recommendation when developing 2011 workplan and project proposals.	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 15. Further explore opportunities to complement work being undertaken by other international		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or HWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
health agencies to address the spread of HIV/AIDS in the region.				
Recommendation to HWG 16. Ensure new priorities examine and address the links between health, trade and economic development and cooperation in line with APEC priorities, Bogor Goals, and the MTWP.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 17. In future, whenever a draft work plan containing the strategic priorities and directions of the HWG is being developed, a copy or copies of the document should be provided to other stakeholders, including international organizations and other APEC fora such as the LSIF, for their expert opinion and input before the document is finalized.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 18. Amend the TOR to reflect the current gender balance of the Chair and Deputy Chair positions as a commitment to gender equality.		HWG to take note of this recommendation when selecting leadership for the group.	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 19. Invite the Gender Focal Point Network to a future meeting to raise awareness of gender considerations and establish an ongoing collaborative relationship with this forum.		HWG to take note of this recommendation in its coordination with other APEC fora including GFPN.	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 20.		No action required –		Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or HWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or HWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Include a section outlining consideration of issues relating to gender equality in all future project proposals.		HWG project proponent should follow the concept note/project proposal template that was endorsed by BMC.		
Recommendation to HWG 21. Explore APEC economies' policies and regulations on health related gender equality issues and create a policy and strategic direction for the HWG.		HWG to take note of this recommendation in developing its 2011 workplan and project proposals.	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 22. Update TOR to reflect the 2010 'Revised Guidelines for Lead Shepherd/Chair and Deputy Lead Shepherd/Chair of APEC Working Groups and SOM Task Forces' and ensure all HWG members are aware of the revised duties.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 23. APEC funded workshops should continue to remain open to representatives from the private sector, as and when appropriate to enhance collaboration and capacity building activities.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 24. Increase cross-sector, APEC fora and stakeholder participation in future policy dialogue sessions to maximize collaboration.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes
Recommendation to HWG 25. Transform suggestions for improving collaboration into explicit actions.		HWG to implement this recommendation	HWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2011.	Yes

INDEPENDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE ECOTECH IMPLEMENTATION OF APEC WORKING GROUPS AND SOM TASKFORCES:

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
	Recommendations to SCE			
Recommendation SCE1. Consulting with the TPTWG Lead Shepherd and her counterparts on opportunities to improve coordination with the SCE, as part of finalizing the SCE policy framework paper. These opportunities should specify dates for submitting annual plans and reports so as to give the TPTWG Management Group sufficient lead time to draft and review the documents.	There have been developments and progress in this area. SCE is considering to improve accountability of SCE sub-fora.	SCE to keep its sub- fora informed of the decision on accountability arrangement.	Upon SCE's decision.	Yes.
Recommendation SCE2 . Establishing a protocol with the CTI for consulting and taking action on cross-cutting initiatives involving the TPTWG and other SCE Working Groups.	Protocol may be too formal between APEC's own fora. Cooperation could be discussed and conducted based on need at any time between APEC fora. Fora should be urged to exchange outcomes from their Working Group meetings. The Program Director could facilitate such collaboration.	No action required.	N. A.	Yes.
Recommendation SCE3 . Establishing a protocol with the EC for consulting and taking action on cross-cutting initiatives involving the TPTWG and other SCE Working Groups.	Same comment as above.	No action required.	N. A.	Yes.

TRANSPORTATION WORKING GROUP (TPTWG)

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation SCE4.		No action required.	N. A.	Yes.
Issuing a <i>Best Practices Guidelines for</i> <i>Working Group Office Holders</i> document that provides advice on how to exercise their responsibilities similar to the one that exists for Program Directors.	Generally speaking it is good idea. But the different fora are operating in different ways to meet the particular needs from member economies. Hence not easy and workable to have a management guide applicable across the fora.			
	The existing Guidelines for Lead Shepherd/Chair and Deputy LS/Chair can be the basis for future			
Recommendation SCE5.	discussion and improvement.	No action required.	N. A.	Yes.
Consolidating the findings and recommendations in independent assessment reports with general applicability into a <i>Management Practices in Assessment Reports</i> <i>that may be of General Applicability</i> document similar to the <i>Lessons Learnt in</i> <i>[Project] Evaluation Reports that may be of</i> <i>General Applicability</i> document and posting on the APEC website.	It would be beneficial for the incoming TPTWG Lead Shepherd (Canada) to update the existing Guidelines to consolidate recent management improvement and highlight good practices. This could be undertaken in consultation with the current Program Director. This Recommendation could be undertaken with Recommendations TPTWG 6 and 10 below.			
	Recommendations to APEC Secreta	nriat		
Recommendation APEC Sec 1. Providing the TPTWG Lead Shepherd and her counterparts with a list of the specific responsibilities of Program Directors (PDs) in supporting their SCE fora, based on the generic PD job description.	Agree.	Secretariat to keep TPTWG better informed of the support and service from PD.	Secretariat to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation APEC Sec 2.	BMC and PMU of Secretariat already discussed this	Secretariat to keep	Secretariat to report	Yes.
Developing protocols to ensure that all project information in the database is accurate, complete, up to date and aligned with each stage of the project life cycle.	issue.	Project Database updated.	progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation APEC Sec 3. Surveying experienced project overseers to seek input on the format and content of the guidance material posted on the APEC Project Database website other than the Guidebook which is being revised.	Agree.	Secretariat to consider this recommendation.	Secretariat to report decision to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation APEC Sec 4. Inviting the TPTWG Deputy Lead Shepherd to become an ex-officio member of the BMC Small Group responsible for assessing TPTWG Evaluation Reports.	BMC is discussing a new post-project evaluation framework.	Secretariat to inform APEC fora of the approved project evaluation framework.	Upon BMC decision.	Yes.
Recommendation APEC Sec 5. Strengthening the 'Model Proposal' component of the Project Database website by providing model templates of each section of a proposal with accompanying explanations.	Agree.	Secretariat to implement this recommendation.	Secretariat to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
	Recommendations to TPTWG			
Recommendation TPTWG 1 . Adding the APEC Port Services Network (APSN) and two task forces to the chart showing the TPTWG organizational structure in a manner appropriate to their role. In the case of the APSN, it is suggested that this be a dotted line linking it directly (and sideways) to the Lead Shepherd in the same way as the Heads of Delegation are shown.	Agree to have a more inclusive TPTWG chart.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 2 . Establishing a 'rolling' schedule of the next two-three meetings at least six months apart	Agree to have a long-term planning of future TPTWG meetings. [note: Lead Shepherd is responsible for 'lobbying'	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
and coordinated as required with any Transportation Ministerial Meetings.	economies to host a TPTWG.]			
Recommendation TPTWG 3 . Reviewing the format and content of the master registration list compiled at TPTWG-32 and the attendance lists maintained by the Experts Groups and subgroups in order to strengthen their usefulness as a basis for identifying participation issues.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 4 . Identifying ways to strengthen the Joint Transportation Ministerial Statement as a priority-setting instrument for the TPTWG including opportunities to broaden the composition of the drafting group.	The Joint TPT Ministerial Statement is for sure one important source of priority setting. At the same time, the priority setting also needs to take SOM tasking statement and AMM Statement into consideration.	TPTWG to consider this recommendation and the comment from SCE.	TPTWG to report decision to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 5 . Introducing Project Ranking Guidelines which identify each step of the TPTWG ranking process. In addition to adopting the same five ranking criteria used by the Secretariat Project Assessment Panel, the guidelines should explain how these criteria are to be applied to TPTWG project proposals including the use of quantitative sub-criteria such as the number of co-sponsors, industry partners and external quality assessments.	Agree. TPTWG needs to consider the SCE policy criteria when ranking project proposals. In ranking project proposals, TPTWG should also consider the APEC-wide Funding Criteria.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 6 . Consulting with the Communications and Public Affairs Unit in devising protocols to ensure that all content on the TPTWG website is final, current, accurate, correctly positioned,	Encourage TPTWG to work closely with the Communications and Public Affairs Unit to publicize TPTWG activities and achievement.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
relevant, consistent with the APEC Website Guidelines and, if practical for drafting groups, password protected. These protocols should be incorporated into the TPTWG Management Guide and, as appropriate, into the TOR for Experts Groups and sub-groups.				
Recommendation TPTWG 7 .	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in	Yes.
Listing Points of Contact for each economy on the website.			2010.	
Recommendation TPTWG 8. Holding a brainstorming session, possibly as an integral part of a preparatory meeting for the next Transportation Ministerial Meeting, with a view to developing strategic direction in the form of a set of medium and long term goals and objectives. It should also address the appropriate level of business sector participation in plenary sessions and meetings of Experts Groups and sub-groups. Preliminary ideas may be circulated in advance of the brainstorming session.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 9 . Designing a template for the re-introduced Operational Plan that would provide the basis for a more results-oriented approach to annual work planning and reporting by the Experts Groups.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 10 . Establishing a Management Framework main page on the TPTWG website to improve access to the contents of the expanded	Agree and the TPTWG webpage in the APEC home website can also be fully utilized.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Management Guide and other management instruments such as the Guidelines for Heads of Delegation.				
Recommendation TPTWG 11 . Including a list of all adopted management instruments and their interdependencies in the Management Guide.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 12. Endorsing the Progress Report for APEC- funded Projects as a TPTWG management instrument, amending its template, transferring responsibility for its maintenance to project overseers and posting it on the Projects section of the TPTWG website.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 13. Re-introducing a Matrix of Actions at the next TPTWG meeting as an efficient way of keeping track of commitments made by TPTWG-MG members and Heads of Delegation from one meeting to the next. Thereafter, it could be appended to the Lead Shepherd's meeting report.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 14. Updating the TPTWG Terms of Reference to reflect the results of any brainstorming sessions held before the next Transportation Ministerial Meeting and seeking approval at a subsequent SCE meeting. It should clarify approval authorities within the TPTWG and serve as a template for the Experts Groups and sub-groups.	It should be careful to revise the TOR.	TPTWG to further consider this recommendation.	TPTWG to report decision to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation TPTWG 15. Designing a two-page Summary Final Report Template that enables the Chairs of Experts Groups to concisely present key accomplishments and issues requiring direction to the TPTWG Management Group, Heads of Delegation and the Closing Plenary consistent with approved Terms of Reference; the full length final report would follow within 30 days.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 16 . Designing a Work Plan template that enables the Chairs of the Experts Groups to report progress in achieving planned results consistent with their Summary Final Report and the Operational Plan template.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 17. Using the TPTWG-LS Policy Direction Letter as the basis for transforming the strategic direction contained in the annual APEC Tasking Statement into goal-oriented implications for TPTWG and issuing it to the Chairs of the Experts Groups at least two months in advance of the first TPTWG meeting held within a given year.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 18 . Establishing a protocol within the TPTWG Management Guide to ensure that all approved reports are published on the TPTWG website in a timely manner.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation TPTWG 19 . Establishing a protocol within the Communications and Public Affairs Unit to promote published documents to the fullest extent possible.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 20 . Surveying the effort expended by office holders and their staff in the delivery of support services.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 21 . Publishing the annual Report of Transportation Working Group to the SCE on the TPTWG website.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 22 . Inviting feedback from hosting economies on improvements to APEC hosting guidelines.	Revision on the APEC hosting guidelines needs to be approved by SOM. TPTWG may provide suggestion on improving the guidelines according to the feedback.	TPTWG to consider this recommendation.	TPTWG to report decision to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 23 . Ensuring that the Chairs of Experts Groups do not serve as project proponents and overseers so as to avoid any perceived conflict of interest situations in exercising their project oversight responsibilities.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.
Recommendation TPTWG 24 . Listing the suggestions contained in the questionnaires received from TPTWG-32 delegates into a Continuing Improvement Action Plan for discussion at the next TPTWG meeting.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

Recommendations by Independent Consultant	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Action Suggested by SCE	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TPTWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation TPTWG 25. Seeking the views intersessionally of all Heads of Delegation, Chairs of Experts Groups and sub-groups, and project overseers who did not complete the questionnaire and adding their input to the above-mentioned Plan.	Agree.	TPTWG to implement this recommendation.	TPTWG to report progress to SCE 2 in 2010.	Yes.

INDEPENDENT ASSESSMENT OF THE ECOTECH IMPLEMENTATION OF APEC WORKING GROUPS AND SOM TASKFORCES:

TOURISM WORKING GROUP (TWG)

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or TWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
	RECOMMENDATIONS TO SC	E		
 Recommendation to SCE1. Persist with the TWG as a stand-alone working group in the short term: if the time ever comes when the TWG must be amalgamated, consider linking with transport or environment sectors. 	<u>APEC Secretariat</u> 6 th Tourism Ministerial Meeting acknowledged with appreciation the completion of the SOM Steering Committee on ECOTECH (SCE) 2010 Independent Assessment of the TWG and called on the SCE to consider the recommendations therein and to recognize the range of tourism-related issues beyond the purview of the TWG.	SCE to take note of this recommendation when considering the issue of streamlining SCE fora.		Yes
 Recommendation to SCE2. Continue to challenge the TWG to reform, reinvigorate and re-focus: reform by developing at least one high profile, flagship project that will demonstrate the potential of the tourism sector to lead an APEC agenda; reinvigorate by asking host economies to involve leaders of their private sectors in TWG meetings; re-focus by adopting a "program" approach, tracking and reporting progress towards tourism goals as well as APEC-wide agendas. 		SCE to endorse this recommendation and request TWG implement the recommendation 2, 4, and 5 to TWG (below)		Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or TWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
 Recommendation to SCE3. Encourage the TWG to experiment with its new medium-term work plan as a means to implement the "more strategic approach" called for in previous reviews: treat the plan as a tool for routine use rather than a reporting exercise adapt the prescribed template, articulating tourism goals and listing projects and action points under those goals. 		SCE to endorse this recommendation through its decision related to recommendation to TWG No. 5,8,10,11.		Yes
 Recommendation to SCE4. Encourage the TWG to open its agenda to partner MOs for joint participation in projects or other action points where there is a mutual interest. weigh the supply and magnitude of co-funding as a factor in decisions about tourism projects. 		SCE to encourage TWG to develop close cooperation with other MOs in accordance with the Guidelines on Non-member Participation.		Yes
 Recommendation to SCE5. In two years time, ask the TWG to review the Tourism Charter Goals. building on the experiments with its new medium term work plan. aligning the long-term Charter goals with the medium-term program goals. 	<u>APEC Secretariat</u> At the 37 th TWG meeting, members had robust discussion on moving forward from the four Tourism Policy Goals from the 2000 Tourism Charter created under the Seoul Tourism Ministerial Declaration. 6 th Tourism Ministerial Meeting: encouraged TWG to take stock of the findings in the IA report as vital inputs while moving forward from APEC Tourism Charter to produce a dynamic Strategic Plan.	No action required as TWG has already stated the discussion on this issue.		Yes
RECOMMENDATIONS TO HWG				
Recommendation to TWG 1. The Tourism Charter Goals remain relevant for defining APEC's tourism mission. As		TWG to take note of this recommendation while moving forward	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or TWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
mission goals they should continue to be long- term and aspirational. After the TWG has completed its current round of strategic planning, it should reflect on the Tourism Charter Goals and report suggested refinements, via the SCE, to the APEC Meeting of Ministers Responsible for Tourism.		from APEC Tourism Charter to produce a dynamic Strategic Plan.		
Recommendation to TWG 2. There is sufficient continued interest in the TWG to warrant persisting with the TWG as a stand-alone working group, provided that the TWG should anticipate ongoing pressure to reform, reinvigorate and re-focus. The TWG should develop at least one high profile, flagship project that will demonstrate the potential of the tourism sector to lead an APEC agenda.		TWG to implement this recommendation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 3. If the time ever comes when the TWG must be amalgamated, the best prospect for finding areas of common interest at present is with the transport and environment sectors. However, any such amalgamation would dramatically change the nature of APEC's involvement in tourism.		No action required.		Yes
Recommendation to TWG 4. A way to make TWG meetings vibrant and useful in future would be to encourage Host economies to include the private sector when best practice examples are presented. Rather than merely inviting private sector interests for "show", it will be better to		TWG to implement this recommendation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or TWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
seek convergence of public and private interests in the host economies around an issue of relevance to the APEC agenda. The Singapore Cruise Forum was a model in this regard. The presence of the leaders of the host economy's national carrier airline, local cruise operators, international tour wholesalers, etc would enliven future TWG meetings.				
Recommendation to TWG 5. In order to implement the "more strategic approach" called for in previous reviews, the TWG should switch from a "project" approach to a "program" approach. At present, various TWG projects are winding down and there are no new project proposals in the system to take their place. There is a hiatus. In a "program" approach, when one project finishes, new projects would be sought that continue the advance towards medium-term goals.		TWG to implement this recommendation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 6. The reporting of tourism outcomes should be based on progress towards medium-term tourism goals in addition to other, APEC-wide criteria. This will open the TWG's agenda to new funding sources and expose the tourism agenda to new ways to make progress, without relying entirely on APEC project funding.		TWG to implement this recommendation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 7. A collective action plan for the TWG, as envisaged in Schedule 1 of the Tourism Charter, seems to be a vital missing element. Developing such a plan (a practical tool for strategic planning) would be a way to address		TWG to take into consideration of this recommendation in developing its medium term workplan.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or TWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Professor Kim's recommendations 1 and 9 and answer Dr Bell's recommendation for a "checklist" for assessing the relevance of TWG's projects. It would help in assessing and reporting outcomes. It would be the primary planning tool of a "programs" approach. In modern APEC terminology, calling the planning tool a "medium-term work plan" is more apt than "collective action plan".				
Recommendation to TWG 8. A possible modified form of the Secretariat's template is suggested in Figure 2, page 22 (of the report). In this form, the medium term work plan becomes an on-going, useful planning tool for the TWG and not merely a compliance exercise.		TWG to take into consideration this recommendation when developing its medium term workplan.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 9.The TWG's 2010 Workplan could be recastusing terms from the ManilaFramework, basing the TWG's Medium TermWork Plan around 6 programs:1. Asserting tourism's place. Medium Termgoal: "to assert tourism's place inregional economic integration"2. Human capital in tourism. Medium termgoal: "to promote human securitythrough developing human capital in tourism"3. Socially and culturally responsible tourism.Medium term goal: "to addressthe social dimension of globalisation throughsocially and culturallyresponsible tourism"4. Environmentally sound tourism. Medium		TWG to take into consideration this recommendation when developing its medium term and annual workplans.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or TWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
 term goal: "to safeguard the quality of life through environmentally sound tourism" 5. Policy alignment and reform. Medium term goal: "To promote stability and efficiency through policy alignment and structural reform" 6. Coordination with other fora. Medium term goal: "To expand the scope of the TWG's influence through coordination with other APEC fora" 				
Recommendation to TWG 10. Fitting the new goals around a series of medium-term programs in the manner illustrated above is recommended in order to turn the TWG's Medium-Term Work Plan into a useful, on-going tool.		TWG to implement this recommendation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 11. Alignment with APEC's immediate priorities should be accommodated at the Projects and Action Points level, rather than requiring major upheaval to the programs in the TWG's Medium Term Work Plan.		TWG to take into consideration this recommendation when developing its medium term workplan and project proposals.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 12. Tourism typically involves governance through some form of PPP, usually a tourism board of some kind. This private sector focus is reflected at global and regional levels in the make-up of tourism's MOs such as WTTC and PATA. Tourism boards and MOs are likely to be better avenues for engaging tourism's private sector than the ABAC.		TWG to take note this recommendation so as to enhance its cooperation with the private sector.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes

Recommendations by Independent Assessor	Comments from member economies and/or APEC Secretariat	Suggested Action to be taken by SCE or TWG	Proposed timeline to implement the recommendation by SCE or TWG	Agreement on the suggested action (Yes/No)
Recommendation to TWG 13. The TWG's Mid-Term Work Plan should be put before the TWG's "partner MOS" and an open invitation issued to PATA and WTTC in particular (and any others who prove their commitment by attending regularly) for joint participation in projects or other action points where there is a mutual interest.		TWG to implement this recommendation in accordance with the Guidelines on Non- member Participation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 14. Irrespective of where an initiative comes from, the potential for leadership by partner MOs should be explored. TWG's partner MOs have technical personnel with full-time responsibilities for multilateral engagement. Fora Lead Shepherd to fit intersessional technical coordination of multilateral projects between his / her national priorities is extremely onerous.		TWG to implement this recommendation in accordance with the Guidelines on Non- member Participation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes
Recommendation to TWG 15. As the TWG moves further into joint projects, opportunities for co-funding are likely to arise. Consideration should be given to weighing the supply and magnitude of co-funding as a factor in decisions about APEC projects.		TWG to implement this recommendation in accordance with the Guidelines on Non- member Participation.	TWG to report progress to SCE2 2011	Yes

APEC EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS WORKING GROUP (EPWG)

TERMS OF REFERENCE (TOR)

Introduction

An APEC Task Force for Emergency Preparedness (TFEP) was established by Senior Officials in 2005 to coordinate and facilitate emergency and disaster preparedness within APEC. In February 2010, recognising the continued importance of TFEP's work, the Senior Officials Steering Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation (SCE) elevated the TFEP to a permanent Emergency Preparedness Working Group (EPWG).

Goals and Objectives

- To build capacity in the region so that APEC member economies can better mitigate, prepare for, respond to and recover from emergencies and natural disasters, including by building business and community resilience and fostering private-public partnerships to protect business, trade and economic growth and communities from disruption.
- To improve coordination and enhance intra-APEC cooperation and integration of best practice emergency and natural disaster preparedness efforts in APEC, including by fostering research and collaboration, sharing knowledge, lessons learnt and best practices in the field of emergency management to better protect business, trade and economic growth and communities in the Asia-Pacific region from disruptions related to emergencies and natural disasters.

Current Priorities and Projected Outputs

- The EPWG's priorities and projected outputs will be outlined in its annual work plan, which will be reported to Senior Officials through the SCE Fora Report. The activities and deliverables of the Working Group will also be included in the SCE Report to SOM on Economic and Technical Cooperation (ECOTECH) at the end of each year.
- EPWG priorities shall be closely aligned with the *APEC medium-term ECOTECH priorities*.

Membership

- All APEC economies, through designated focal points.
- Chairs and Lead Shepherds of relevant APEC fora.

Internal organization arrangements

- The EPWG will be answerable directly to the SCE and will report to Senior Officials on emerging issues as necessary.
- The EPWG will select a Chair(s) for a two-year term (calendar years), on a rotation basis. A member economy should not serve more than one term as EPWG Chair unless otherwise agreed by EPWG members, and no member economy should serve more than two consecutive two-year terms.

- The position of EPWG Chair will be on a voluntary basis. The new Chair(s) will be selected by the EPWG at the last meeting before the incumbent Chairs' term expires or as otherwise agreed by EPWG members.
- The EPWG will be assisted by the APEC Secretariat.
- The EPWG will also be assisted by a Steering Committee. The Terms of Reference for the EPWG Steering Committee are outlined below. Other ad hoc sub-groups will be established if/as needed.

Functions of the Chair(s)

Duties of the EPWG Chair(s) will include but not be limited to:

- Coordinate the schedule of EPWG meetings and chair EPWG meetings.
- Report to Senior Officials and SCE on EPWG's work plan, activities and other emerging issues, including at SCE1, SOM 2 and the Concluding SOM, or as otherwise required.
- Oversee the development of EPWG work plans and activities ensuring the EPWG fulfils instructions given by APEC Leaders, Ministers and Senior Officials, including by coordinating with other APEC bodies and enhancing the quality of project proposals with well defined outcomes.
- Act as the spokesperson for the EPWG.

Meeting arrangements

- Face-to-face meetings will be held at least once a year and on an as needed basis.
- The work of the EPWG will, wherever possible, be carried out via electronic communications.

Communications and administrative arrangements

- All communications relating to the EPWG will be carried out via email from Chair(s) to members and with the assistance of the APEC Secretariat Program Director where necessary.
- An official EPWG e-mail contact list, based on focal point details provided by Senior Officials, will be complied and maintained with the assistance of the APEC Secretariat Program Director.
- The APEC website and APEC Collaboration System (ACS) will be used for information exchange and networking. The website and ACS will be maintained with the assistance of the APEC Secretariat Program Director.

Modalities for cooperation

- The EPWG will coordinate the work of APEC on emergency and natural disaster preparedness.
- The EPWG will refer endorsed projects to relevant committees/fora/sub-fora for action, endorse appropriate self-funded projects, undertake work as necessary and facilitate the sharing of information among member economies.

- The EPWG will identify ways APEC can complement the efforts of other organizations to prevent/mitigate the economic impact on the region of emergencies and natural disasters occurring in member economies as well as non-member economies in cases where those emergencies and disasters are anticipated to have a significant impact on the region.
- The EPWG will not engage in emergency and natural disaster response operations or relief activities.
- The EPWG will encourage members to take an all hazards approach in developing emergency preparedness and risk reduction mechanisms.
- The EPWG will encourage cooperation between senior emergency and disaster management officials, business and regional and international partners.
- The EPWG will encourage public-private partnerships in emergency preparedness.

EPWG Review Clause

• The EPWG will review its terms of reference, achievements and outputs at regular intervals of not more than two years to ensure it aligns with APEC's core priorities.

Steering Committee

The role of the Steering Committee is to:

- 1. assist the Working Group and EPWG Chair(s) to advance the Group's mandate and work plans; and
- 2. assess EPWG projects using the Qualitative Assessment Framework in accordance with the APEC Guidelines on How to use the Assessment, Monitoring and Evaluation (AME) Frameworks.

The work of the Steering Committee is to be carried out via electronic communications as much as possible. Face-to-face meetings are only to be held as needed.

Assistance to the Working Group and EPWG Chair(s)

Tasks to advance the Working Group's mandate and work plans will be determined in consultation with the EPWG Chair(s) and Steering Committee members at the beginning of each year and as needed.

The Steering Committee will deliver an intersessional report to the EPWG prior to the Concluding Senior Officials Meeting (CSOM) each year on the Steering Committee's work on QAF assessments and invite discussion on its ToR, roles, responsibilities and membership.

Project Assessment

The Steering Committee will oversee and facilitate the submission of high quality EPWG project proposals to the Budget Management Committee (BMC), including by assessing each submitted proposal using the Quality Assessment Framework (QAF). In performing this role, the Steering Committee will:

- Establish and disseminate a procedure and timetable, as well as updates as needed, for the submission of EPWG project proposals seeking APEC funds, with particular attention to the BMC schedule.
- Advise and guide Project Overseers (POs), in cooperation with the EPWG Chair(s) and EPWG Program Director, on project development and QAF requirements.
- Assess EPWG project proposals in accordance with the *Guidebook on APEC Projects* and the Quality Assessment Framework (QAF). Only those proposals that comply with APEC guidelines, as advised by the Secretariat, will be accepted.
- Provide an opportunity for the PO to consider the Steering Committee's assessment and amend the proposal. In cases of non-compliance, the PO is to be informed of the reasons for non-acceptance.
- If the PO does not agree with the assessment, provide an opportunity for his/her response to be circulated among EPWG members.
- Provide EPWG members with an assessment of each proposal, including PO responses, to inform the ranking process.
- Provide comments on the evaluation reports submitted by the PO after the completion of the projects.
- Provide feedback to the EPWG on general observations made during the assessment process to guide the submission of future projects.

Membership

Membership of the EPWG Steering Committee will be open to any self-volunteering economy that explicitly expresses its willingness to the Chairs' open invitation within three months of any review of the Steering Committee's Terms of Reference and membership.

Steering Committee Review Clause

The Terms of Reference and membership of the Steering Committee will be reviewed at regular intervals not exceeding two years.

APEC AGRICULTURAL TECHNICAL COOPERATION WORKING GROUP

TERMS OF REFERENCE

Article 1 Establishment of the APEC Working Group on Agricultural Technical Cooperation (ATC)

The previous APEC Experts Meeting on ATC was established as an Experts Group on Agricultural Technical Cooperation in November 1996. The Group was renamed to the Agricultural Technical Cooperation Working Group in November 2000.

Article 2 Objectives

The Group will serve as a forum for member economies to enhance the capacity of agriculture and its related industries to contribute to economic growth, food security and social well-being in the region.

Article 3 Principles of Cooperation

The activities of the Group will accord with the principles and essential elements of Economic and Technical Cooperation set out in Part II of the Osaka Action Agenda (updated in 2001) and with any subsequent directions from APEC Economic Leaders, Ministers and Senior Officials. These activities will:

- be based on the principles of mutual respect and equality, mutual benefit and assistance, constructive and genuine partnership and consensus building;
- develop an environment favourable to the effective operation of market mechanisms and integrate into the cooperation process the business/private sector and other pertinent institutions where possible;
- integrate environmental considerations in all relevant activities, and take into account the essential elements of Common Policy Concepts, Joint Activities and Policy Dialogue, while respecting the autonomy of each APEC economy over its policies.

In addition, agricultural technical cooperation will:

- pay due consideration to the diversity of agricultural sectors in the region;
- recognize the rapid changes occurring in the agricultural sectors in the region; and
- avoid duplication with, and add value to, other APEC activities, and activities undertaken by international agencies and regional fora.

Article 4 Scope of Activity

4.1 The Group will carry out its activities consistent with the vision statement and action plans incorporated in the Osaka Action Agenda and any subsequent directions, including those to be identified by the first Ministerial Meeting on Food Security in Niigata on October 2010.

- 4.2 The Group will concentrate in its future work on developing a dialogue and implementing agreed action programs on economic and technical cooperation along the chain of agriculture and food production, processing, marketing and distribution with special emphasis on opportunities for agricultural technical cooperation.
- 4.3 The work of the Group shall proceed in parallel with, and complement the work of other APEC groups.
- 4.4 Agricultural Technical Cooperation will focus on, but not be limited to, the following areas of activities:
 - Promote activities and regional cooperation to strengthen food security in the APEC region
 - Conservation and Utilization of Plant and Animal Genetic Resources
 - Research, Development and Extension of Agricultural Biotechnology
 - Production, Processing, Marketing, Distribution and Consumption of Agricultural Products
 - Sanitary and phyto-sanitary (SPS), Integrated pest management (IPM), Biosecurity, Biodiversity, and control of invasive alien species (AIS).
 - Cooperative Development of Agricultural Finance System
 - Sustainable Agriculture and Related Environmental Issues, including climate change adaptation and mitigation.
 - Agricultural investments and trade facilitation
- 4.5 Above mentioned areas of activities will be reviewed annually against their objectives.
- 4.6 Where appropriate, the Group will liaise with the business sector and relevant regional and international bodies to ensure that its work is relevant, practical and focused and to avoid duplication.

Article 5 Structure of the Group

- 5.1 The Group will be composed of officials and experts from universities, public and private sectors. There shall be a rotation of the Lead Shepherd every two years.
- 5.2 The Group will have a Lead Shepherd and a Deputy Lead Shepherd for ATCWG, which is appointed by consensus within the Group.
- 5.3 The Group will meet at least annually, with meetings arranged in such a way which minimizes resource costs and maximizes member participation.
- 5.4 The Group may establish special task forces with strictly defined terms of reference and duration.
- 5.5 The Group shall review the scope of its activities and all aspects of its operations every three years or as new issues appear. In addition, as part of the recommendation 12 of the SCE Fora Review, the ATCWG will be independently assessed every four years according to the Independent Assessment Schedule endorsed by the SCE.
- 5.6 The Group will report annually through the SCE Fora Report or as requested by SOM.

Document is designed for double-sided printing. Blank pages have been deliberately included to allow correct pagination.

ANNEX 12

Abbreviations and Acronyms

ABAC	APEC Business Advisory Council
ACT	Anti-Corruption and Transparency Experts Task Force
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AEES&L	Appliances Energy Efficiency Standards and Labelling
AELM	APEC Economic Leaders' Meeting
ALLM	avian influenza
AMM	APEC Ministerial Meeting
AOMM	APEC Oceans-related Ministerial Meeting
APCERT	Asia Pacific Computer Emergency Response Team
APCS	APEC Climate Symposium
APEC/GIT	APEC Global Navigation Satellite System Implementation Team
APFC	Asia Pacific Fishery Commission
APLAC	Asia Pacific Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation
APNIC	Asia-Pacific Network Information Center
APSN	APEC Port Services Network
APT	Asia-Pacific Telecommunity
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
ASF	APEC Support Fund
ATCWG	Agricultural Technical Cooperation Working Group
BATF	Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean development and Climate's Buildings and
DATT	Appliances Task Force
BMC	Budget Management Committee
CAST	Collaborative Assessments of Standards and Testing
CCS	Carbon Capture and Storage
CEEDS	Cooperative Energy Efficiency Design for Sustainability
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CMP	crisis management plan
COST	ASEAN Committee of Science and Technology
СТАР	Counter-Terrorism Action Plan
CTC	UN Counter-Terrorism Committee
CTED	Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate
CTI	Committee on Trade and Investment
CTTF	Counter-Terrorism Task Force
DG Comp	Competition Directorate of the European Commission
DRH-Asia	Disaster Reduction Hyperbase-Asian Application
DS	Diploma Supplement
DSG	Steering Group on ICT Development
EC	European Commission
EC (in APEC)	Economic Committee
ECOTECH	Economic and Technical Cooperation
eIMBL	electronic International Molecular Biology Laboratory
EINet	APEC Emerging Infectious Diseases Network
EMM	Energy Ministerial Meeting
EoDB	Ease of Doing Business
EPWG	Emergency Preparedness Working Group
ESC	SOM Committee on Economic and Technical Cooperation
ESIS	APEC Energy Standards Information System
EU	European Union
EWG	Energy Working Group
FMP	Finance Ministers' Process
FOTC	Friend of the Chair

FTA	Free Trade Agreement
FWG	Fisheries Working Group
GFPN	Gender Focal Point Network
GHG	greenhouse gases
GNSS	Global Navigation Satellite System
HLPDAB	High Level Policy Dialogue on Agricultural Biotechnology
HRDMM	Human Resources Development Ministerial Meeting
HRDWG	Human Resource Development Working Group
HWG	Health Working Group
IATA	The Air Transport Association
ICAO	*
	International Civil Aviation Organisation
ICIAP ICOMOS	Code Implementation Assistance Program International Council on Monuments and Sites
ICOMOS	
	International Chamber of Shipping
ICT IEA	Information and Communication Technology
	International Energy Agency
IMO	International Maritime Organisation
INTUG	International Telecommunications Users Group
IPR	Intellectual Property Right
IPv6	Internet Protocol Version 6
ISO	International Organization for Standards
ISOC	Internet Society
ISOM	Informal Senior Officials' Meeting
ISPS	International Ship and Port Security
ISTWG	Industrial Science and Technology Working Group
ITU	International Telecommunication Union
ITS	Intelligent Transport Systems
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
KPI	key performance indicator
LEDs	light emitting diodes
LNG	liquefied natural gas
LRFFT	live reef food fish trade
LMS	Labour Market System
MMFS	Ministerial Meeting on Food Security
MO	multilateral organisation
MOU	Memorandum of Understanding
MRA	Mutual Recognition Arrangement
MRA-ERT	MRA of Equivalence of Technical Requirements
MRA-CA	Mutual Recognition Arrangement for Conformity Assessment
MRCWG	Marine Resource Conservation Working Group
MSE	management system for energy
MTF	Mining Task Force
NGO	non-governmental organisation
OA	operation account
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PATA	Pacific Asia Travel Association
PD	Program Director
PMU	Project Management Unit
PREE	APEC Peer Review on Energy Efficiency
PSU	Policy Support Unit
REEEP	Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency Partnership
RTA	Regional Trade Agreement
SCI	Supply Chain Connectivity Initiative
SCE	SOM Steering Committee on ECOTECH
SCE-COW	SCE - Committee of the Whole
SEAMEO	Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Organisation

SEER	seasonal energy efficiency
SFOM	Senior Finance Officials Meeting
SMEs	Small and Medium Enterprises
SMEMM	Small and Medium Enterprises Ministerial Meeting
SMEWG	Small and Medium Enterprises Working Group
SOM	Senior Officials' Meeting
SPSG	Security and Prosperity Steering Group
SSN	social safety nets
STAR Conference	Secure Trade in the APEC Region Conference
TATF	APEC Technical Assistance and Training Facilities
TELMIN	APEC Ministerial Meeting on the Telecommunications and Information Industry
TEL	Telecommunications and Information Working Group
TFEP	Task Force on Emergency Preparedness
TILF	Trade and Investment Liberalization Fund
TMM	Tourism Ministerial Meeting
ToR	Terms of Reference
TPTWG	Transportation Working Group
TRP	Trade Recovery Program
TSA	Tourism Satellite Account
TWG	Tourism Working Group
UNCSD	United Nations Commission on Sustainable Development
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
UNECE	United Nations Economic Commission for Europe
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
UNWTO	World Tourism Organisation
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
WB	World Bank
WHO	World Health Organisation
WLN	Women Leaders Network
WPISP	OECD Working Party on Information Security and Privacy
WPRO	WHO Western Pacific Region
WSC	World Shipping Council
WTO	World Trade Organisation
WTTC	World Travel and Tourism Council



Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation

APEC Secretariat

35 Heng Mui Keng Terrace Singapore 119616 Tel: (65) 68 919 600 Fax: (65) 68 919 690 Email: info@apec.org Website: www.apec.org